
     

 
Notice of a public meeting of 

Economy & Place Policy Development Committee 
 
To: Councillors Cuthbertson (Chair), Kramm (Vice-Chair), 

N Barnes, S Barnes, Cullwick, Richardson and Steward 
 

Date: Tuesday, 18 September 2018 
 

Time: 5.30 pm 
 

Venue: The Thornton Room - Ground Floor, West Offices (G039) 
 

 
A G E N D A 

 
 
1. Declarations of Interest    
 At this point, Members are asked to declare: 

 any personal interests not included on the Register of 
Interests 

 any prejudicial interests or 

 any disclosable pecuniary interests 
which they may have in respect of business on this agenda. 
 
 

2. Minutes   (Pages 1 - 8) 
 To approve and sign the minutes of the meeting held on17 July 2018.  

 
3. Public Participation    
 It is at this point in the meeting that members of the public who 

have registered their wish to speak can do so. The deadline for 
registering is by 5.00pm on Monday 17 September 2018.  
Members of the public may speak on an item on the agenda or 
an issue within the Committee’s remit. To register, please contact 
the Democracy Officer responsible for the meeting (the contact 
details are available at the foot of the agenda). 



 

 
Filming or Recording Meetings 
Please note that, subject to available resources, this meeting will 
be filmed and webcast, or recorded, including any registered 
public speakers, who have given their permission.  This 
broadcast can be viewed at http://www.york.gov.uk/webcasts. 
 
Residents are welcome to photograph, film or record Councillors 
and Officers at all meetings open to the press and public. This 
includes the use of social media reporting, i.e. tweeting.  Anyone 
wishing to film, record or take photos at any public meeting 
should contact the Democracy Officer (whose contact details are 
at the foot of this agenda) in advance of the meeting. 
 
The Council’s protocol on Webcasting, Filming & Recording of 
Meetings ensures that these practices are carried out in a 
manner both respectful to the conduct of the meeting and all 
those present.  It can be viewed at 
http://www.york.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/11406/protocol_f
or_webcasting_filming_and_recording_of_council_meetings_201
60809.pdf 
 
 

4. Review of Disabled Access into the City Centre   (Pages 9 - 54) 
 This report follows on from the 19 June 2018 Economy and Place Policy 

Development Committee where it was agreed that the Committee would 
look into possible mitigation measures for disabled blue badge access 
against the vehicle security measures around the city centre. 

 
5. Secondary Shopping Areas Fund - Update   (Pages 55 - 58) 
 This report updates the Committee on the progress of work to 

support the economic health of our District retail centres in Haxby 
and Acomb. 

 
6. Street Lighting Policy   (Pages 59 - 86) 
 This report informs the Economy and Place Policy Development 

Committee of proposed changes to the Street Lighting Policy following 
an officer review. 

 
 

http://www.york.gov.uk/webcasts
http://www.york.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/11406/protocol_for_webcasting_filming_and_recording_of_council_meetings_20160809.pdf
http://www.york.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/11406/protocol_for_webcasting_filming_and_recording_of_council_meetings_20160809.pdf
http://www.york.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/11406/protocol_for_webcasting_filming_and_recording_of_council_meetings_20160809.pdf


 

7. Work Plan 2018/19   (Pages 87 - 88) 
 Members are asked to consider the Committee’s work plan for the 

municipal year. 
 

8. Urgent Business    
 Any other business which the Chair considers urgent under the 

Local Government Act 1972. 
 

Democracy Officer: Angela Bielby  
Contact Details:  
Tel – (01904) 552599 
Email – a.bielby@york.gov.uk  
 
 
 

For more information about any of the following please contact the 
Democracy Officer responsible for servicing this meeting: 
 

 Registering to speak 

 Business of the meeting 

 Any special arrangements 

 Copies of reports and 

 For receiving reports in other formats 
 

Contact details are set out above. 
 

 

 
 

mailto:a.bielby@york.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



City of York Council Committee Minutes 

Meeting Economy & Place Policy Development 
Committee 

Date 17 July 2018 

Present Councillors Cuthbertson (Chair), Kramm (Vice-
Chair), N Barnes, S Barnes, Richardson and 
Steward 

Apologies 
 

         In Attendance 

Councillor Cullwick 
 
Councillor Waller, Executive Member for 
Environment and Councillor Dew, Executive 
Member for Transport and Planning 

 

11. Declarations of Interest  
 

Members were asked to declare, at this point in the meeting, 
any personal interests not included on the Register of Interests 
or any prejudicial or discloseable pecuniary interest that they 
might have in respect of the business on the agenda.  
 

Cllr S Barnes declared a personal non prejudicial interest in 
agenda item 4 (Attendance of Executive Member for 
Environment) in that he worked in renewable offshore wind. 
 
Cllr Cuthbertson declared a personal non prejudicial interest in 
agenda item 5 (Attendance of Executive Member for Transport 
& Planning) in that he lived in Earswick. 

 
12. Minutes  
 

Resolved:  That the minutes of the last meeting held on 19 June 
2018 be approved as a correct record and then 
signed by the Chair subject to two changes in 
minute number 7, resolution ii) that Cllr Richardson 
be removed from the informal Task Group and that 
only one member of the Green Party was to take 
part. 

 
13. Public Participation  
 

It was reported that there had been no registrations to speak 
under the Council’s Public Participation Scheme. 

Page 1 Agenda Item 2



14. Attendance of Executive Member for Environment  
 

The Executive Member for Environment gave an overview of 
his priorities and challenges for the 2018/19 municipal year and 
thanks were expressed to officers, councillors and residents for 
their support in promoting Clean Air Day. 
 
As a result of questions raised by Members the Executive 
Member responded and it was noted that: 

 Clean Air Day was developing each year and 
hopefully there would be earlier engagement with 
residents and councillors next year. 

 Policies or initiatives within renewable energy, flood 
defence, air quality including fleet procurement, 
plastics and recycling could be scrutinised by this 
Committee. 

 Flood defences were regularly inspected by the 
Environment Agency (EA) and the EA worked in 
consultation with communities to consider a range 
of flood defence solutions.   

  Flood defences at Naburn could be discussed with 
staff at the hub on Wellington Row. 

 The Bulky Waste Collection scheme was being 
reviewed and work with the Community Furniture 
Store was taking place to consider practical ways to 
reuse and salvage items.  

 The traffic and sustainable transport approach for 
York Central was being considered and the 
Executive Member for Environment would continue 
to campaign to reduce traffic numbers and improve 
accessibility for cyclists and pedestrians.  

 Anti-idling sat in the Executive Member for Housing 
and Safer Neighbourhoods portfolio but due to the 
air quality impact the Executive Member for 
Environment had suggested a policy should be 
created to allow fines to be issued. In the short 
term, messages would continue to be relayed to 
companies to ensure large diesel vehicles switched 
their engines off when stationary. 

 First York provided an anti-idling and cyclist 
awareness training programme to bus drivers. 

 Council policy was to move towards electric 
vehicles but more awareness was needed on the 
heavy goods vehicles to ensure the right investment 
was made.   

Page 2



 An approach was required to prevent opportunistic 
fly tipping in the city centre so businesses could 
recycle more. 

 York residents should receive communications 
regarding the recycling process by the autumn. 

 
Following a discussion around clean energy, Members thanked 
the Executive Member for his update. 
 
Resolved: That the update from the Executive Member on his 

portfolio area be received and noted.  
 
Reason:  To update the Committee on the challenges and 

priorities within the Executive Members portfolio 
area. 

 
15. Attendance of Executive Member for Transport & Planning  
 

The Executive Member for Transport and Planning gave an 
overview of his priorities and challenges for the 2018/19 
municipal year. 
 
As a result of questions raised by Members the Executive 
Member responded and it was noted that: 

 Officers would continue to monitor rural bus 
services.  

 The parking prices in the city centre car parks would 
not be reduced so there would be no ‘free for all’ on 
parking which would undercut the business plans of 
bus companies.  

 Coaches were currently not permitted to use bus 
lanes and some coaches were not permitted to 
cross Lendal Bridge. Consultation would be 
required with operators should the bus lane policy 
be altered.  

 Officers were consulting with residents on proposals 
to improve the Haxby Road/Wigginton. 
Road/Clarence Street area.   

 He was not aware of any new orbital bus routes. 
 

Following discussion and comments made by Members, the 
following policies or initiatives were flagged as possible areas 
this Committee could scrutinise: 

 Street Lighting Policy 

 Dockless Cycle Hire Scheme 

Page 3



 Parking Strategy  

 Crossing Points  

 Cycling points outside the city centre 

 Bus Lanes 

 Traffic Regulation Orders 
 

The Corporate Director of Economy & Place suggested that 
should Members decide to assist the Executive Member in his 
decision regarding a dockless cycle hire scheme, they could 
invite officers from Sheffield City Council to provide them with 
an overview of their cycle hire scheme experience. 
 
Members thanked the Executive Member for his update. 

 
Resolved: That the update from the Executive Member on his 

portfolio area be received and noted.  
 
Reason:  To update the Committee on the challenges and 

priorities within the Executive Members portfolio 
area. 

 
16. Economic Strategy Review  
 

Members considered a report which set out a proposed timeline 
and outlined processes to review the economic strategy, 
consider the challenges which York faced as a city, and to 
enable the development of a refreshed Economic Strategy as 
an early priority in the 2019/20 work programme. 
 
The Head of Economic Growth gave an update and confirmed 
that:  

 

 The York Economic Strategy was developed in 
2015 and published in July 2016, just 26 days after 
the EU referendum. 

 The York Skills Plan was published in 2017. 

 Due to the Governments Industrial Strategy to 
encourage local enterprise partnerships (LEPs) to 
develop their own regional approach, the York, 
North Yorkshire & East Riding Enterprise 
Partnership Strategic Economic Plan and the Leeds 
City Region Strategic Economic Plan were under 
review.  

 

Page 4



He went on to advise that the current Economic Strategy was 
for the period 2016-2020, with its partner document, the York 
Skills Plan, covering 2017-2020.  Therefore, a new strategy 
would be needed for 2020 onwards, with drafting taking place in 
2019, with an opportunity to bring economic development and 
skills together into a single framework. 

 
The officer continued to outline the targets set for York and the 
progress against the York Economic Strategy priorities, 
focussing on the 8 essential ‘to-dos’ of which four were 
progressing well and assessed green, with the remaining four 
progressing more slowly and assessed amber.  
 
He then discussed the following four headline targets: 

 Growing Wages to above the national average by 
2025. 

 Meeting in full the requirements for business space 
and housing. 

 Growing priority high-value sectors at least 20% 
faster than baseline forecasts. 

 Maintaining comparative advantages in 
employment, skills and connectivity. 

 
Members noted the priorities and challenges moving forward 
and that the Economic Strategy conference would link into York 
Business Week and would take place on 19 November 2018.  
 
Following comments and further questions around inward 
investment, business space, housing targets, employment, 
wages and skills, the Head of Economic Growth, the Corporate 
Director of Economy and Place and the Assistant Director of 
Planning and Public Protection stated that:  

 

 Discussions with key players including the University 
of York regarding inward investment and 
commercial opportunities within York Central had 
begun and ongoing engagement with businesses 
across the city through Make it York was taking 
place to drive the economy. New opportunities and 
innovations that would be unique to York were being 
considered. 

 There was a good range of space in the Local Plan 
for industrial development. 

Page 5



 The council did not have a huge amount of influence 
over employer’s wages and this would be a 
challenge going forward.  

 The economic development officers from the LEP’s 
could be invited to express their views on the 
regions economic function in order for Members to 
explore more broadly and ensure a fully formed 
debate.  

 Planning enforcement was only imposed as an 
appropriate and proportional response to something, 
such as an adverse impact on residents or an 
environmental issue.   

 
Members thanked the officer for his report and it was noted that 
this Committee could provide guidance to help bring this 
strategy together. It could help set a clear vision where certain 
key indicators could be monitored.  Members requested a 
double rating on the ‘to-dos’ and it was suggested that 
promoting re-skilling opportunities for employees could be an 
approach to develop the skills agenda.   

 
Resolved:  (i) That the report be noted and commented on 

prior to it being considered by the Executive 
Member for Economic Development and 
Community Engagement at a Decision 
Session on 23 July 2018. 

 
(ii)   That the Chair considered all points raised 

and email Committee Members a suggested 
direction that would best support officers in the 
development of the strategy. 

 
Reason: To inform Members of the proposed timeline and 

process for the development of a refreshed Economic 
Strategy. 

 
17. Work Plan 2018/19  
 

Members considered the Committee’s work plan for the 
2018/19 municipal year. 
 
Following discussion it was agreed that a presentation on the 
Street Lighting Policy would be received at the next meeting 
and that the Chair would consider all points raised and email 
Committee Members about potential items for business. 

Page 6



 
Resolved: That the work plan be approved subject to the above 

amendments/additions. 
 
Reason: To keep the Committee’s work plan updated. 

 
 

 
 
Cllr Cuthbertson, Chair 
[The meeting started at 5.30 pm and finished at 7.47 pm]. 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



 

 

 

  
 

   

Economy & Place Policy Scrutiny 
Committee 

18 September 2018 
 

 

Report of the Corporate Director of Economy and Place 
 
Review of disabled access into the city centre 

Summary 

1. This report follows on from the 19 June, 2018 Economy and Place 
policy Development Committee where it was agreed that the 
committee would look into possible mitigation measures for disabled 
blue badge access against the vehicle security measures around 
the city centre. 

2. Committee’s comments and considerations will be taken forward to 
Executive Members on 27 September 2018 to aid their initial 
decisions around mitigation when measures go in.   

3. At the 27 September 2018 Executive meeting officers are 
recommending an experimental traffic regulation order be put in 
place to trial standard bollards in a core part of the city centre to be 
monitored for traffic management purposes. 

Background 

4. On the 8th of February, 2018 the Executive approved a report, which 
asked officers to work with North Yorkshire Police, York BID, Make it 
York, York Minster, York Racecourse and others to upgrade existing 
highway infrastructure and identify locations where vehicle 
restrictions will take precedence over access requirements.  
 

5. The focus is in areas where there is high footfall, deemed to be at 
both at York Racecourse and the city centre where these HVM 
(Hostile Vehicle Mitigation) measures are to be implemented against 
a VAW (Vehicle as a Weapon) attack. 
 

6. Site visits and assessments to review the city centre and its 
vulnerabilities have been undertaken that have led to an initial 
feasibility study being completed. 

7. The section of the city centre being considered in the first Priority 
Zone includes Parliament Street, St Sampson’s Square, High 

Page 9 Agenda Item 4



 

 

Ousegate and Spurriergate, Coney Street, Davygate, Finkle Street, 
Church Street and Jubbergate.  Other streets leading into these 
areas will continue to be considered, see Annex A of Appendix 1. 

8. In order to implement the proposals, changes to the existing traffic 
regulation order are required.  The proposal is to remove access 
exemptions for all drivers to St Sampson’s Square, thereby 
restricting access between the current foot street hours 10:30am to 
5pm.  

9. Following police advice, temporary measures in the city centre have 
been installed, which are similar to those used for the Saint 
Nicholas Fair in 2017. These will remain until the permanent 
measures are installed. It should be noted that these temporary 
measures do not limit vehicle access to the city centre but provide a 
visual deterrent and slow traffic at the access points on Blake Street 
and Church Street and reduce the risk of access over the footway 
into the main paved Parliament Street junction with Coppergate and 
Piccadilly. 

10. Executive have previously made the decision hostile vehicle 
mitigation measures will be installed to protect the city centre from a 
vehicle as a weapon attack as a priority over accessibility.  
 
Consultation  

11. The Economy and Place Policy Development Committee has begun 
an initial consultation with representatives of disabled groups to 
further implement the Executive decision detailed above. 

12. It has also been agreed that officers will consult with an array of 
stakeholders including disabled representative groups.  In addition 
officers have proposed that an experimental period be implemented 
to assess traffic impacts in the high priority area (see Annex A), 
which will allow an opportunity for the general public to put forward 
any comments for consideration by Executive Members. 
 
Analysis 

13. It is anticipated that a minority of people will be disadvantaged by 
hostile vehicle mitigation measures, which is a consequence of 
making our city safer by reducing the risk of attack. 

14. Disabled drivers and carers are priority groups to consult with to find 
ways to mitigate the impact of HVM measures as disabled Blue 
Badge holders are likely to be the most affected group. 

Page 10



 

 

15. Further consultation with these representative groups with increase 
reassurance that as much is being done as possible to reduce the 
impacts the HVM measures will have.      

 
Council Plan 

16. This report is linked to the following priorities in the Council plan: 

- A  prosperous city for all 

- A Council that listens to residents  

Implications 

17. The following are the only identified implications. 

 Financial – Any mitigation works will very likely have a financial 
impact, which will be subject to committee member’s findings, 
Executive adoption and other consultation works outside of the 
scrutiny committee. 

 Human Resources (HR) – Due to the lack of officer time and 
resource, the committee has agreed to take this forward by 
themselves but officers will help and support where possible.   

 Equalities – While this report will not have any impacts on 
equalities, the findings from the committee will very likely have 
significant impacts on equalities issues for minority groups, i.e. 
bleu badge access. 

 Legal – Possible changes to the Traffic Regulation Order (TRO). 

 Crime and Disorder - These measures aim to deter and 
prevent vehicular access during the agreed hours in the interests 
of public safety.  

 Information Technology (IT) – None 

 Property - None 

 Risk Management – Given the nature of this work and the 
threat it is working to mitigate against, it has been agreed by 
Executive Members that protection over access has been 
approved.  Therefore these HVM measures will significantly 
reduce the threat from a VAW attack but the mitigation against 
these will be risk assessed once findings have been gathered 
and assessed. 

Page 11



 

 

 
Recommendations 

18. Members are asked to: 

 

 Note the content of this report, its Appendix and Annexes and 

provide feedback as appropriate; 

 Consider the matter in light of initial input from disabled user 

groups; 

 Agree whether further consultation is necessary and make 

recommendations / representations accordingly. 

Reason: So the Committee plays an active role in policy 
development in the city. 

 

Contact 
Details: 
Author 
Graham Titchener 
Parking Services Manager 
Tel No. (01904) 551495 
 
 

Chief Officer Responsible for the Report 
James Gilchrist 
Assistant Director Transport, Highways and 
Environment 

Report 
Approved 

√ Date 08/08/2018 

 

Wards Affected: Guildhall and Micklegate All √ 

 

 
 
Annexes 
 
Appendix 1 – Executive Report 27 September 2018 

 

 

 
 

Page 12



 

 

 Appendix 1 
 

   

 
Executive  27th September 2018 

 

Report of the Corporate Director for Economy and Place 
 
Portfolio of the Executive Member for Transport and Planning 

 

City Centre Access Update and Priority 1 Proposals  

Summary 

1. This report updates on the decision taken on the 8th February, 2018 
where the Executive agreed to implement Hostile Vehicle Mitigation 
measures in the city centre to protect it from the vehicle as a 
weapon threat.  This report provides an update on work undertaken 
so far and seeks approval to progress priority 1 locations of the 
programme, not already agreed, to the next stage (see annex A for 
a map illustrating the location bordered in red). 
 

2. The threat to areas of high footfall remains ever-present with recent 
vehicle as a weapon attacks in Toronto, Glasgow, Manchester, and 
the number of attacks in London where in the month of August saw 
a person planning a vehicle as a weapon attack on Oxford Street 
convicted and the attack on the 14th August in Westminster.   

 
3. Annex E is a letter from the York and Selby Police Area 

Commander highlighting the threat we see nationally as well as a 
number of, what is descried as, hostile reconnaissance reports the 
police have received.  According to the Centre for the Protection of 
National Infrastructure (CPNI) hostile reconnaissance is the term 
given to the information gathering phase by those individuals or 
groups with malicious intent and a vital component of the attack 
planning process.  

 
 Recommendations 
 

4. That Members: 
 

a) Note the update provided in this report. 

Page 13



 

 
b) Agree the next steps and consider the options presented, 

where option A is recommended.  

 

c) Delegate to the Corporate Director of Economy and 
Place in consultation with the Executive Member for 
Transport and Planning the making of an experimental 
traffic regulation order. 

 

d) To continue to work with Saint Sampson Centre as well 
as other groups affected to mitigate the impact of the 
changes. 

 

e) To look at restrictions to prevent vehicles remaining in 
the Priority One zone and bring these proposals to the 
Executive Member for Transport and Planning for 
decision.  

 
f) Members to instruct officers to develop proposals for 

further phases of city centre security measures to ensure 
the safety of the city. 
 

Reason: This will allow the initial work started since the 8th February 
Executive decision, to be taken forward to the next stage on a risk 
managed approach.  This will respond to the Police request to 
protect areas of high footfall against the threat of a vehicle as a 
weapon attack. 
 

 Background 

5. On the 8th of February, 2018 the Executive approved a report and 
asked officers to work with North Yorkshire Police, York Business 
Improvement District (BID), Make it York, York Minster and York 
Racecourse to upgrade existing highway infrastructure and identify 
additional locations where vehicle restrictions will take precedence 
over access requirements.  
 

6. The focus was to be on areas of high footfall both at York 
Racecourse and the city centre and to implement hostile vehicle 
mitigation measures to protect against a vehicle as a weapon 
attack.  

Page 14



 

  
7. Since then officers have:- 

 
- Formed a working group and aligned this programme to the 

York Counter Terrorism Working Group, which forms the 
advisory group for this programme.  This includes 
representatives from York BID, the Minster and the 
Racecourse as well as the Police and Counter Terrorism 
Unit. 

 
- Worked with the Racecourse, North Yorkshire Police and 

Counter Terrorism Unit to develop temporary arrangements 
for this season at the Racecourse.  York Racecourse has led 
on the temporary measures in consultation with North 
Yorkshire Police and the Council, which fall under the 
existing Temporary Traffic Regulation Order used for race 
days. 

 
- Following police advice, temporary measures in the city 

centre have been installed, which are similar to those used 
for the Saint Nicholas Fair in 2017.  These will remain until 
the permanent measures are installed.  It should be noted 
that these temporary measures do not limit vehicle access to 
the city centre but provide a visual deterrent and slow traffic 
at the access points on Blake Street and Church Street and 
reduce the risk of access over the footway into the main 
paved Parliament Street junction with Coppergate and 
Piccadilly. 

  
- Researched and procured security consultants specialising 

in hostile vehicle mitigation with experience of working in an 
historical context. 

 
- Site visits and assessments to review the city centre and its 

vulnerabilities have been undertaken that have led to an 
initial feasibility study being completed which is subject to 
further refinement and work. 

 
- Devised a proposal to prioritise areas of the city centre to 

implement an experimental traffic regulation order in line 
with Executive Members wishes for a scheme that has the 
minimum disruptive impact on access.  See annex B 
regarding the prioritisation.  This experiment will use 

Page 15



 

standard removable bollards to test the traffic impacts of 
closing the priority area shown in Annex A during footstreet 
hours, with a view to these being installed before the St 
Nicholas Christmas Fair this year. 

 

- The above experiment will aid in the analysis to determine 
mitigation solutions to reduce the impacts on access during 
the footstreet hours and inform the design and 
implementation work of permanent measures. 

 

- Due to the part time nature of the measures additional traffic 
regulation controls will be required to prevent vehicles 
remaining with the Priority Zone, officers will develop 
proposals and present these to the Executive Member for 
Transport and Planning for decision. 

 

Analysis 
 
8. The current UK threat level is severe so a prioritised approach is 

being proposed where the first priority has been identified as the 
requirement to restrict physical access to York’s busiest shopping 
street and event areas.  This includes Parliament Street, St 
Sampson’s Square, High Ousegate and Spurriergate, Coney 
Street, Davygate, Finkle Street, Church Street and Jubbergate.  
Other streets leading into these areas will continue to be 
considered.  However at this time remaining streets are considered 
a lower priority, see annex B.  
 

9. Executive have previously made the decision hostile vehicle 
mitigation measures will be installed to protect the city centre from a 
vehicle as a weapon attack as a priority over accessibility.  
Therefore, as well as this priority 1 area, other areas of the city 
centre will continue to be reviewed for the potential installation of 
further measures and will be brought forward to Executive in the 
future. 
 

10. There will be opportunities to replace some of the current temporary 
protection such as those at the end of the paving on Parliament 
Street with permanent measures more quickly to protect the most 
vulnerable area without any changes to the traffic regulation order 

Page 16



 

or impact on the public.  Officers will proceed with these 
interventions under existing officer delegations in consultation with 
the Executive Member for Transport and Planning. 
   

11. In order to implement the measures proposed in this report, 
changes to the existing traffic regulation order are required.  The 
proposal is to remove access exemptions for all drivers to St 
Sampson’s Square.  Thereby restricting access between the 
current foot street hours 10:30am to 5pm with work to review the 
installation of a no loading ban around the square that will be 
signed and no loading ban markings implemented on the kerb, 
operational only within the foot street hours.  

 

12. In order to trial this proposal it is recommended that an 
Experimental traffic regulation order is implemented for this area to 
allow for temporary physical measures to be installed, giving an 
opportunity for comments from the public to be received and fed 
back in a later report to Executive in how best to take the 
permanent restriction forward and any additional mitigation deemed 
necessary and reasonable.  Annex F of this report is a community 
impact assessment that has been reviewed by officers.  However in 
order to properly assess the impacts of these measures on city 
centre access this experimental period and consultations are crucial 
to better understand these impacts.  In turn this will highlight what 
reasonable mitigation measures can be taken forward prior to the 
rollout of permanent hostile vehicle mitigation measures in the 
priority 1 area. 

 
13. It should be noted that exclusions similar to those proposed 

currently happen on a regular basis when events take place in the 
city where for example St Sampson’s Square and Parliament 
Street, which are closed for about 100 days per year due to events.  
This includes 69 main events and a further 30 or so ad-hoc/smaller 
events such as the carousel and bungee jump activities that take 
place.  These events in turn move the outside cafe tables into the 
highway around St Sampson’s Square preventing safe vehicular 
access to the area.  It is also noted that the St Sampson’s Centre 
will be impacted on, or rather its customers.  In Annex A the blue 
circles illustrate where new non-security bollards will be installed.  
Specifically for the area near this Centre a hammerhead 
arrangement will be configured to allow traffic coming down Church 
Street to turn and come back up again.  However given the size of 

Page 17



 

the dial and ride vehicles, officers will work with the centre and 
continue to consider other solutions. 

 
14. This report proposes an intervention that has the smallest impact 

on access into the city centre whilst maximising the physical area 
protected. Additionally the experimental nature of the proposals 
provides an opportunity to test the impacts of vehicular restriction 
measures.  Specifically this will allow officers to test the impacts on 
current vehicular access during the foot street hours and identify 
what mitigation measures may be necessary to ensure the 
successful implementation of hostile vehicle mitigation measures.  

 
15. Due to the likely impacts on disabled blue badge holders, Members 

may wish to note that the councils Economy and Place Policy 
Scrutiny Committee is reviewing disabled parking in the city centre 
and are due to meet on the 18th September at the time of writing 
this report.  It is envisaged they will have disabled community 
representation to discuss access and mitigation.  In turn the 
committee’s findings will help to inform the research of what 
mitigation may be reasonably available and engage those people 
most affected and ensure Elected Member involvement.  

 

16. Inevitably there will be a minority of people that will be 
disadvantaged by these hostile vehicle mitigation measures, which 
is a consequence of making our city safer by reducing the risk of 
attack, but officers will work to ensure the impact is mitigated and 
access to the city centre is provided as best as possible and 
informed by this experimental period and further consultations. 

 
Communication Plan and consultation 
 

17. The February Executive Decision instructed officers to engage and 
work with key disabled access stakeholders to review disabled 
parking within and around the city centre. The reason was to 
mitigate the potential loss of disabled parking ensuring a safe city 
centre which is as accessible as possible.  But the report was also 
clear that vehicle restrictions will on balance take precedence over 
access requirements. 
 

18. The Executive decision was that these measures will be rolled out; 
so the focus of consultation is only regarding the mitigation of the 

Page 18



 

impacts of these measures, not the implementation of these 
measures or the principle for doing this. 
   

19. Disabled drivers have been a priority group to consult with to find 
ways to mitigate the impact through representative groups which 
will help to advise on suitable mitigation measures. Work has been 
conducted to review what options may be available or that could be 
developed to ensure the city centre is accessible as possible, whilst 
implementing restrictions. 

 
20. The advice from the Centre for the Protection of National 

Infrastructure is that whilst the national threat is severe, York can 
consider a risk based approach to allow essential vehicles into the 
city centre during operational hours. 

 
 
21. For the purposes of the experimental traffic regulation order, current 

foot street exemptions will be replicated and the final exemptions 
list will be determined upon completion of the experimental traffic 
regulation order to inform the permanent measures and 
recommendations. 
 

22. It is proposed that an initial pre-implementation consultation, take 
place on practical implementation and potential mitigation against 
the impacts of these measures.  For clarity the proposed 
consultation pre-implementation will not be on the decision to 
implement but as noted above to seek views on practical 
implementing and potential opportunities for mitigating impacts. 
 

23. The dialogue, as instructed by Members in February, will continue 
throughout the experimental traffic regulation order period and 
report back to Members before a decision about the future is taken. 
   

 
Options 
 

24. The work proposed is that temporary standard removable bollards 
will be installed within the area as shown in Annex A before the St 
Nicholas Christmas Fair.  Specifically this will be on the corner of St 
Sampson’s Square and Church Street forming a hammer head 
arrangement which will allow vehicles to turn around and back up 
Church Street, however there may be some fine tuning of this 
arrangement, which officers will deal with, including how to safely 

Page 19



 

allow Dial a Ride vehicles to enter and exit the area, as mentioned 
in paragraph 14.   
 

25. In addition these bollards will be installed at the exit of Coney Street 
(St Helen’s Square end) all of which will be operated by council 
staff. 
 

26. This will allow the impact on physically closing this part of the city 
centre to be monitored and ensure any comments are received to 
better inform the implementation of permanent measures and any 
mitigation around these.   
 

27. Costs for the measures and resource to operate these will come 
from the Built Environment Fund that has been allocated to cover 
this counter terrorism work where the temporary measures and 
operation of them will be in the order of £20,000. 

 
28. Due to the decision that protection is a higher priority over access, 

the options for consideration are based around consultation 
focusing on mitigating against the impacts of these measures, 
temporary as well as permanent.     
 

29. Option A is first to consult on mitigation to reduce the impact these 
measures will have before the experimental traffic regulation order 
and any physical measures are installed. The period of consultation 
prior to installation will be up to the 31st October, 2018 in order to 
help inform the implementation of the experimental traffic regulation 
order mitigation works prior to the St Nicholas Fair.   However 
earlier consultation with key groups will occur in line with the 8th 
February Executive decision report.  This additional level of 
consultation to key representative groups, such as York Business 
Improvement District, Make it York and blue light services, will help 
to mitigate initial practical implementation issues prior to installation 
and ensure the Council is seen to be listening and understanding of 
the impacts these measures will have.   

 
30. Subject to a delegated officer decision of the Corporate Director for 

Economy and Place, in consultation with the Executive Member for 
Transport, the experimental traffic regulation order would then be 
implemented unless unforeseen physical constraints emerge.   
 

31. Option B is to proceed without the initial consultation (as 
mentioned in Option A) and to give a 2 week public notice period 

Page 20



 

prior to the experimental traffic regulation order being implemented.  
At the same time as commencing this traffic regulation order, a 
separate consultation with stakeholders and representative groups 
will take place regarding the mitigation required to minimise the 
impact of the permanent measures. 

 

32. Under either option a further formal decision would then need to be 
taken by Executive on whether to make the order permanent 
leading to the installation of permanent security rated measures 
and restrictions across the priority 1 area.   

 

33. In addition a similar experimental period will likely be requested for 
the other areas of the city centre such as the area around York 
Minster. 
 
 

34. Option A - the risk is that the consultation about mitigation would 
inevitably become a consultation about the principle of restricting 
access which Executive have already determined will be 
implemented.  Therefore accusations of a false consultation may 
come about however this initial consultation prior to the 
experimental traffic regulation order coming into effect, should be 
welcomed by representative groups which this work will impact on 
and seen to be at least given them some timely warning rather than 
this just being dropped on them.  This risk will need to be mitigated 
by making the terms of the consultation very clear. 
 

35. Option B – This is a marginally quicker proposal and ensures early 
implementation of physical measures to protect the public. The 
experimental nature of the traffic regulation order allows an 
evidence based approach to the mitigation of permanent measures 
and not raise expectations that, considering the national threat 
level, any ongoing general vehicular access will be an option.  This 
will inform a measured installation with reasonable mitigation 
measures to help provide access to the city centre as best as 
possible for those whom these permanent measures will impact on 
but with reference to paragraph 17.    
 

36. Officers recommendation is that Option A is the best option, which 
is supported by the York Counter Terrorism Task Group (see Annex 
C).  However this is a matter of judgment on risk, the balance of 

Page 21



 

rights and public protection and both the physical and reputational 
impacts given the severity that a successful vehicle as a weapon 
attack would have in a high footfall area. 

 
Council Plan 
 

37. This report is supportive of the following priorities in the Council 
plan in addition to the One Planet York principles the Council 
champions: 

 A focus on frontline services 

 A Council that listens to residents 
 

Implications 
 
38. The following are the identified implications. 
 

 Financial – It is anticipated that the final measures will have 
significant costs associated with them both from their installation 
and supporting systems and resources to operate and maintain 
them.  This may exceed the Built Environment Fund allocation but 
this is yet to be determined.  Therefore the proposed experimental 
traffic regulation order and temporary vehicular access measures 
with a cost estimated in the order of £20,000, which will allow the 
impact city centre traffic to be assessed before significant funds 
are expended on permanent measures.  This includes the 
implementation of standard drop in and lift out bollards, 0.5FTE at 
a grade 5 level and administrative costs to implement the 
experimental TRO. 
 
Depending on the detailed work the number of bollards may vary 
but by way of an indication, each standard bollard is £600, which 
includes installation.  In turn the number of bollards will have a 
resource impact to lift out and put these back in.  This will likely be 
up to 0.5FTE in the city centre Street Scene team.  It has been 
formally approved that the Built Environment Fund will be used to 
help fund the works and the temporary measures will be funded 
from this budget.  
  
Further detail of the costs of the permanent measures will be 
provided prior to the decision on whether to make the 
experimental traffic regulation order  changes permanent in a later 
report.  
 

Page 22



 

 Human Resources – some monitoring and control of the 
measures may be required and the experimental traffic regulation 
order proposals will allow for the permanent resource 
requirements to be assessed. 
 

 Equalities – Before permanent measures are agreed by 
Executive, an initial Community Impact Assessment has been 
completed highlighting the access issues to the priority 1 area and 
St Sampson’s Centre. This is inline with the Council’s legal 
requirements under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.  
 
In respect of the immediate decision on balance due to the 
experimental time limited nature of the proposal, the limited 
intervention and the overarching responsibility of the Council to 
protect life is considered a proportionate approach.  This is further 
supported by the fact that the physical interventions are already 
used for approximately 100 days per annum already. 

 
As a result of the temporary nature of the proposed traffic 
regulation order officers will be able to develop the existing 
Community Impact Assessment with further evidence before 
measures are made permanent, for Members to consider. 
 

 Legal – The Council has a fundamental responsibility for the 
health and well being of its residents and the public at large.  The 
Police have identified the significant rise in risk associated with 
terrorist attacks on the city and security specialist has 
recommended a first priority intervention which should partially 
mitigate the risk in the City subject to further work to develop and 
implement hostile vehicle mitigation measures in other parts of the 
city, which will be brought to Members in due course. 
 

 Crime and Disorder - These measures aim to deter and prevent 
vehicular access during the agreed hours in the interests of public 
safety from the vehicle as a weapon threat. 
 

 Information Technology (IT) – Investment in IT to remotely 
operate some of these measures will be required. 
 

 Property - There are no property implications for this report or its 
recommendations but there may be a planning review and 
permission requirement. 

Page 23



 

 

 Risk Management –This programme is tasked with delivering 
suitable measures to protect areas of high footfall, namely the city 
centre and York Racecourse, against the threat of a vehicle as a 
weapon and the risk to public safety based on Police, consultant 
and security services advice.   

 
Contact Details 

 
Author: 

 
Chief Officer Responsible for the 
report: 

 
Graham Titchener 
Parking Services Manager 

 
 
 

 
Neil Ferris 
Corporate Director for Economy and Place 

 

Report 
Approved 

√ 
Date 13.08.18 

 
 

    

 
 

Wards Affected:  Guildhall All tick 

 
 
For further information please contact the author of the report 
 
Background Papers: 
 
8th February, 2018, Executive report and minutes that agreed to the 
implementation of the hostile vehicle mitigation measures in the city 
centre. 
 

City Transport 
Access Measures - Executive report.pdf

Executive minutes 
from the 18th February, 2018.pdf 

 
Annexes 
 
Annex A – City Centre map showing the Priority 1 area 

Page 24



 

 
Annex B – Short report covering the threat, list of prioritised city centre areas and 
supporting information 
 
Annex C – York Counter Terrorism Task Group endorsement 
 
Annex D – Communications Plan 
 
Annex E – Letter from the York and Selby Police Area Commander 
 
Annex F - Community Impact Assessment - city centre priority 1 area 
 
 
 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



KEY

Priority one area

Location of

temporary bollards

Public space / squareInner Ring RoadOne way streetPermanent road closureBus routeKEYFossgate - Vehicles prohibited exceptfor access Mon - Sat 08:00 - 18:00Pedestrian zone - all vehicles prohibited10:30 - 17:00 except blue badge holdersPedestrian zone - all vehicles prohibited10:30 - 17:00 except green badge holdersPedestrian zone - no vehicular access10:30 - 17:00Priority one areaAccess / egress point (legitimate direction)
Public space / squareInner Ring RoadOne way streetPermanent road closureBus routeKEYFossgate - Vehicles prohibited exceptfor access Mon - Sat 08:00 - 18:00Pedestrian zone - all vehicles prohibited10:30 - 17:00 except blue badge holdersPedestrian zone - all vehicles prohibited10:30 - 17:00 except green badge holdersPedestrian zone - no vehicular access10:30 - 17:00Priority one areaAccess / egress point (legitimate direction)KEYPriority one area

Location oftemporary bollards

Transport Projects

Eco Depot, Hazel Court, James Street, York, YO10 3DS

www.york.gov.uk

c CROWN COPYRIGHT.City of York Council OS Licence No. 1000 20818

CHECKED BY

DRAWN BY

DATE

SCALE

A2

REV
INITIAL

DATE

AMENDMENT

L:\DOCUMENT\Transport Projects\Projects\15 - Miscellaneous Schemes\City centre access\Drawings\City centre access tier 1.dwg

CMH

NTS

City Centre Access

Priority one

P
age 27

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
Chapel

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
Multistorey

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
5to7

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
Straker's

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
Passage

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
13.7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
BLACK HORSE PASSAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
32a

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
10.4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
FOSSGATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
4l

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
5 to 14

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
Merchants'

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
Church Building

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
1 to 8

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
WHIP-MA-WHOP-MA-GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
14.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
1 to 7

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
Yard

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
St Andrew Place

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
12.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
Almshouses

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
Bridge

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
Shovel

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
GARDEN PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
MORREL YARD

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
54 to 56

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
ST SAVIOURGATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
Car Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
1 to 5

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
Church

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
44 to 46

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
Malt

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
Foss

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
9.4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
HUNGATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
Telephone Exchange

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
Saviourgate

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
Central

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
22a

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
53

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
Methodist

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
12.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
St Andrew's

AutoCAD SHX Text_115
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_116
Lady Peckett's

AutoCAD SHX Text_117
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_118
Shelters

AutoCAD SHX Text_119
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_120
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_121
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_122
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_123
8a

AutoCAD SHX Text_124
1to3

AutoCAD SHX Text_125
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_126
TCBs

AutoCAD SHX Text_127
14.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_128
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_129
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_130
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_131
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_132
MERCHANTGATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_133
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_134
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_135
St Saviour's

AutoCAD SHX Text_136
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_137
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_138
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_139
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_140
Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_141
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_142
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_143
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_144
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_145
28a

AutoCAD SHX Text_146
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_147
14 to 16

AutoCAD SHX Text_148
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_149
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_150
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_151
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_152
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_153
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_154
11.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_155
Lady Hewley's Cottages

AutoCAD SHX Text_156
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_157
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_158
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_159
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_160
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_161
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_162
83

AutoCAD SHX Text_163
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_164
3 4

AutoCAD SHX Text_165
16.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_166
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_167
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_168
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_169
Bank

AutoCAD SHX Text_170
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_171
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_172
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_173
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_174
85 to 89

AutoCAD SHX Text_175
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_176
Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_177
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_178
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_179
14 13

AutoCAD SHX Text_180
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_181
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_182
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_183
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_184
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_185
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_186
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_187
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_188
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_189
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_190
84

AutoCAD SHX Text_191
1a

AutoCAD SHX Text_192
41 42

AutoCAD SHX Text_193
West Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_194
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_195
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_196
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_197
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_198
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_199
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_200
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_201
CHURCH LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_202
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_203
(course of)

AutoCAD SHX Text_204
OUSEGATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_205
Church

AutoCAD SHX Text_206
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_207
Sand

AutoCAD SHX Text_208
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_209
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_210
ROMAN WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_211
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_212
Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_213
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_214
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_215
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_216
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_217
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_218
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_219
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_220
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_221
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_222
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_223
24 to 26

AutoCAD SHX Text_224
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_225
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_226
St Helen's

AutoCAD SHX Text_227
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_228
35a

AutoCAD SHX Text_229
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_230
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_231
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_232
PATRICK POOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_233
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_234
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_235
SQUARE

AutoCAD SHX Text_236
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_237
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_238
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_239
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_240
14.9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_241
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_242
TCBs

AutoCAD SHX Text_243
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_244
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_245
BATH HOUSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_246
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_247
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_248
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_249
PAVEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_250
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_251
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_252
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_253
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_254
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_255
BACK SWINEGATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_256
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_257
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_258
1/2

AutoCAD SHX Text_259
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_260
SWINEGATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_261
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_262
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_263
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_264
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_265
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_266
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_267
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_268
93 91

AutoCAD SHX Text_269
SQUARE

AutoCAD SHX Text_270
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_271
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_272
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_273
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_274
MUSEUM STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_275
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_276
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_277
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_278
5b

AutoCAD SHX Text_279
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_280
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_281
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_282
Bank

AutoCAD SHX Text_283
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_284
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_285
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_286
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_287
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_288
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_289
NESSGATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_290
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_291
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_292
CONEY STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_293
St Mary's

AutoCAD SHX Text_294
Church

AutoCAD SHX Text_295
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_296
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_297
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_298
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_299
1to6

AutoCAD SHX Text_300
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_301
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_302
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_303
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text_304
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_305
SILVER STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_306
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_307
HUDSON STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_308
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_309
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_310
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_311
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_312
LITTLE SHAMBLES

AutoCAD SHX Text_313
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_314
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_315
89

AutoCAD SHX Text_316
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_317
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_318
Post Office

AutoCAD SHX Text_319
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_320
9 to 11

AutoCAD SHX Text_321
SHAMBLES

AutoCAD SHX Text_322
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_323
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_324
Church

AutoCAD SHX Text_325
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_326
15 to 17

AutoCAD SHX Text_327
99

AutoCAD SHX Text_328
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_329
14a

AutoCAD SHX Text_330
BRIDGE STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_331
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_332
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_333
HIGH OUSEGATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_334
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_335
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_336
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_337
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_338
Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_339
NEW STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_340
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_341
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_342
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_343
Fn

AutoCAD SHX Text_344
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_345
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_346
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_347
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_348
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_349
9.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_350
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_351
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_352
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_353
14.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_354
Subway

AutoCAD SHX Text_355
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_356
All Saints'

AutoCAD SHX Text_357
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_358
Pump

AutoCAD SHX Text_359
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_360
8 6

AutoCAD SHX Text_361
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_362
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_363
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_364
St Helen's Square

AutoCAD SHX Text_365
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_366
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_367
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_368
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_369
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_370
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_371
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_372
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_373
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_374
13.4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_375
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_376
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_377
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_378
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_379
6 to 14

AutoCAD SHX Text_380
All Saints'

AutoCAD SHX Text_381
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_382
Bank

AutoCAD SHX Text_383
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_384
37 to 39

AutoCAD SHX Text_385
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_386
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_387
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_388
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_389
St Sampson's

AutoCAD SHX Text_390
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_391
GEORGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_392
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_393
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_394
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_395
14.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_396
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_397
15 to 17

AutoCAD SHX Text_398
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_399
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_400
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_401
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_402
Guild Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_403
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_404
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_405
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_406
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_407
to

AutoCAD SHX Text_408
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_409
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_410
Ppg

AutoCAD SHX Text_411
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_412
Church

AutoCAD SHX Text_413
Bank

AutoCAD SHX Text_414
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_415
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_416
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_417
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_418
Works

AutoCAD SHX Text_419
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_420
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_421
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_422
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_423
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_424
Offices

AutoCAD SHX Text_425
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_426
All Saints' Lane

AutoCAD SHX Text_427
LENDAL

AutoCAD SHX Text_428
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_429
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_430
10 to 12

AutoCAD SHX Text_431
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_432
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_433
FEASEGATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_434
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_435
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_436
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_437
Municipal

AutoCAD SHX Text_438
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_439
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_440
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_441
13a

AutoCAD SHX Text_442
3 to 7

AutoCAD SHX Text_443
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_444
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_445
2 1

AutoCAD SHX Text_446
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_447
95

AutoCAD SHX Text_448
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_449
JUBBERGATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_450
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_451
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_452
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_453
LITTLE STONEGATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_454
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_455
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_456
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_457
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_458
Bank

AutoCAD SHX Text_459
14.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_460
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_461
12a

AutoCAD SHX Text_462
1 to 3

AutoCAD SHX Text_463
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_464
14.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_465
NEWGATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_466
Ouse Bridge

AutoCAD SHX Text_467
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_468
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_469
KING'S

AutoCAD SHX Text_470
9.4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_471
SPURRIERGATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_472
12a

AutoCAD SHX Text_473
35 to 39

AutoCAD SHX Text_474
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_475
14.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_476
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_477
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_478
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_479
8.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_480
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_481
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_482
79

AutoCAD SHX Text_483
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_484
Cinema

AutoCAD SHX Text_485
ROMAN

AutoCAD SHX Text_486
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_487
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_488
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_489
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_490
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_491
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_492
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_493
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_494
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_495
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_496
Mansion

AutoCAD SHX Text_497
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_498
COLLIERGATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_499
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_500
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_501
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_502
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_503
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_504
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_505
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_506
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_507
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_508
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_509
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_510
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_511
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_512
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_513
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_514
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_515
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_516
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_517
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_518
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_519
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_520
KING'S

AutoCAD SHX Text_521
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_522
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_523
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_524
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_525
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_526
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_527
7a

AutoCAD SHX Text_528
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_529
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_530
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_531
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_532
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_533
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_534
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_535
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_536
PARLIAMENT STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_537
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_538
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_539
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_540
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_541
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_542
Bank

AutoCAD SHX Text_543
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_544
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_545
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_546
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_547
80

AutoCAD SHX Text_548
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_549
3a

AutoCAD SHX Text_550
Ayres

AutoCAD SHX Text_551
11 to 13

AutoCAD SHX Text_552
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_553
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_554
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_555
Lunds Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_556
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_557
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_558
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_559
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_560
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_561
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_562
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_563
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_564
12.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_565
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_566
5.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_567
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_568
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_569
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_570
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_571
14.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_572
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_573
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_574
Coppergate Walk

AutoCAD SHX Text_575
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_576
Hotel

AutoCAD SHX Text_577
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_578
14.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_579
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_580
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_581
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_582
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_583
1 to 5

AutoCAD SHX Text_584
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_585
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_586
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_587
Slipway

AutoCAD SHX Text_588
ROW

AutoCAD SHX Text_589
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_590
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_591
NORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text_592
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_593
ST SAMPSON'S

AutoCAD SHX Text_594
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_595
Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_596
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_597
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_598
STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_599
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_600
(site of)

AutoCAD SHX Text_601
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_602
13 to 17

AutoCAD SHX Text_603
17 to 21

AutoCAD SHX Text_604
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_605
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_606
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_607
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_608
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_609
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_610
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_611
Peter Lane

AutoCAD SHX Text_612
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_613
Centre

AutoCAD SHX Text_614
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_615
LOW

AutoCAD SHX Text_616
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_617
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_618
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_619
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_620
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_621
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_622
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_623
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_624
78

AutoCAD SHX Text_625
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_626
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_627
COPPERGATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_628
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_629
16 to 20

AutoCAD SHX Text_630
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_631
WELLINGTON

AutoCAD SHX Text_632
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_633
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_634
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_635
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_636
KING STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_637
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_638
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_639
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_640
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_641
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_642
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_643
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_644
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_645
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_646
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_647
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_648
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_649
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_650
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_651
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_652
DAVYGATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_653
28a

AutoCAD SHX Text_654
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_655
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_656
6a

AutoCAD SHX Text_657
St Martin's

AutoCAD SHX Text_658
MARKET STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_659
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_660
74

AutoCAD SHX Text_661
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_662
18 to 22

AutoCAD SHX Text_663
to

AutoCAD SHX Text_664
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_665
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_666
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_667
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_668
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_669
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_670
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_671
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_672
Kenrick

AutoCAD SHX Text_673
Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_674
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_675
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_676
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_677
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_678
SPEN

AutoCAD SHX Text_679
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_680
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text_681
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_682
LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_683
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_684
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_685
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_686
14.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_687
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_688
83

AutoCAD SHX Text_689
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_690
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_691
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_692
16.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_693
SM

AutoCAD SHX Text_694
70

AutoCAD SHX Text_695
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_696
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_697
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_698
77

AutoCAD SHX Text_699
14.9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_700
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_701
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_702
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_703
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_704
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_705
(course of)

AutoCAD SHX Text_706
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_707
15.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_708
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_709
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_710
Hotel

AutoCAD SHX Text_711
78

AutoCAD SHX Text_712
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_713
87

AutoCAD SHX Text_714
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_715
71

AutoCAD SHX Text_716
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_717
15 to 17

AutoCAD SHX Text_718
ROMAN WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_719
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_720
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_721
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_722
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_723
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_724
8 to 10

AutoCAD SHX Text_725
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_726
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_727
Hotel

AutoCAD SHX Text_728
Mill House

AutoCAD SHX Text_729
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_730
Centre

AutoCAD SHX Text_731
Museum

AutoCAD SHX Text_732
THREE CRANES LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_733
Hornpot

AutoCAD SHX Text_734
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_735
Spurriergate

AutoCAD SHX Text_736
Bank

AutoCAD SHX Text_737
Nether

AutoCAD SHX Text_738
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_739
Lane

AutoCAD SHX Text_740
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_741
Sloping Masonry

AutoCAD SHX Text_742
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_743
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_744
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_745
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_746
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_747
68

AutoCAD SHX Text_748
66a

AutoCAD SHX Text_749
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_750
1 to 24

AutoCAD SHX Text_751
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_752
1 to 14

AutoCAD SHX Text_753
Spurriergate

AutoCAD SHX Text_754
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_755
Popeshead Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_756
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_757
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_758
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_759
Foss Bridge

AutoCAD SHX Text_760
Merchants

AutoCAD SHX Text_761
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_762
Place

AutoCAD SHX Text_763
1 to 8

AutoCAD SHX Text_764
1 to 12

AutoCAD SHX Text_765
Chapel House

AutoCAD SHX Text_766
Ramp

AutoCAD SHX Text_767
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_768
19 to 23

AutoCAD SHX Text_769
St Andrew's

AutoCAD SHX Text_770
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_771
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_772
to

AutoCAD SHX Text_773
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_774
11 to 15

AutoCAD SHX Text_775
Merchant

AutoCAD SHX Text_776
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_777
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_778
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_779
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_780
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_781
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_782
4 to 7

AutoCAD SHX Text_783
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_784
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_785
Bailey Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_786
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_787
to

AutoCAD SHX Text_788
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_789
Swinegate

AutoCAD SHX Text_790
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_791
to

AutoCAD SHX Text_792
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_793
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_794
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_795
River Ouse

AutoCAD SHX Text_796
2 to 18

AutoCAD SHX Text_797
Swan Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_798
Rising Bollards

AutoCAD SHX Text_799
Biba House

AutoCAD SHX Text_800
CHURCH STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_801
Stonebow House

AutoCAD SHX Text_802
Roof Car Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_803
Newgate

AutoCAD SHX Text_804
Market

AutoCAD SHX Text_805
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_806
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_807
Judge's

AutoCAD SHX Text_808
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_809
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_810
1 to 5

AutoCAD SHX Text_811
Norman

AutoCAD SHX Text_812
Court Hotel

AutoCAD SHX Text_813
ESS

AutoCAD SHX Text_814
75

AutoCAD SHX Text_815
Ps

AutoCAD SHX Text_816
English

AutoCAD SHX Text_817
Language

AutoCAD SHX Text_818
Centre

AutoCAD SHX Text_819
Bank

AutoCAD SHX Text_820
Yorks

AutoCAD SHX Text_821
Chocolate

AutoCAD SHX Text_822
Story

AutoCAD SHX Text_823
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_824
Bank

AutoCAD SHX Text_825
Lendal Cellars

AutoCAD SHX Text_826
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_827
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_828
Bank

AutoCAD SHX Text_829
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_830
Bank

AutoCAD SHX Text_831
Bank

AutoCAD SHX Text_832
ESS

AutoCAD SHX Text_833
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_834
The Judges Lodging

AutoCAD SHX Text_835
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_836
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_837
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_838
Bank

AutoCAD SHX Text_839
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_840
El Sub

AutoCAD SHX Text_841
Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_842
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_843
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_844
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_845
PC

AutoCAD SHX Text_846
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_847
Ward Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_848
CR

AutoCAD SHX Text_849
Rest Garden

AutoCAD SHX Text_850
Shelters

AutoCAD SHX Text_851
ESS

AutoCAD SHX Text_852
Franklins

AutoCAD SHX Text_853
Yard

AutoCAD SHX Text_854
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_855
TANNER STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_856
Landing Stages

AutoCAD SHX Text_857
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_858
Shelters

AutoCAD SHX Text_859
Boat Hire Yard

AutoCAD SHX Text_860
Club

AutoCAD SHX Text_861
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_862
Finkle Street

AutoCAD SHX Text_863
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_864
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_865
WEIGHBRIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_866
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_867
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_868
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_869
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_870
60

AutoCAD SHX Text_871
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_872
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_873
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_874
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_875
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_876
56

AutoCAD SHX Text_877
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_878
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_879
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_880
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_881
61

AutoCAD SHX Text_882
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_883
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_884
SWINERTON AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_885
ROSEBERY

AutoCAD SHX Text_886
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_887
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_888
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_889
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_890
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_891
9.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_892
WATER END

AutoCAD SHX Text_893
Clifton Long

AutoCAD SHX Text_894
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_895
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_896
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_897
93

AutoCAD SHX Text_898
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_899
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_900
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_901
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_902
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_903
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_904
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_905
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_906
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_907
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_908
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_909
77

AutoCAD SHX Text_910
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_911
63

AutoCAD SHX Text_912
91

AutoCAD SHX Text_913
9.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_914
STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_915
FORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text_916
Clifton Bridge

AutoCAD SHX Text_917
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_918
Reach

AutoCAD SHX Text_919
LINCOLN STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_920
8.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_921
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_922
STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_923
The

AutoCAD SHX Text_924
15.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_925
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_926
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_927
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_928
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_929
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_930
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_931
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_932
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_933
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_934
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_935
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_936
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_937
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_938
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_939
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_940
LEEMAN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_941
Jubilee

AutoCAD SHX Text_942
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_943
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_944
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_945
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_946
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_947
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_948
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_949
15.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_950
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_951
(PH)

AutoCAD SHX Text_952
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_953
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_954
ALDBOROUGH

AutoCAD SHX Text_955
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_956
Works

AutoCAD SHX Text_957
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_958
216

AutoCAD SHX Text_959
10.4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_960
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_961
Timber Yard

AutoCAD SHX Text_962
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_963
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_964
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_965
222

AutoCAD SHX Text_966
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_967
BALFOUR STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_968
WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_969
BRUNEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_970
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text_971
KINGSLAND

AutoCAD SHX Text_972
TERRACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_973
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_974
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_975
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_976
VICTORIA COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text_977
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_978
51

AutoCAD SHX Text_979
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_980
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_981
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_982
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_983
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_984
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_985
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_986
The

AutoCAD SHX Text_987
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_988
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_989
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_990
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_991
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_992
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_993
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_994
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_995
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_996
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_997
REGENTS

AutoCAD SHX Text_998
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text_999
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1000
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1001
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_1002
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1003
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1004
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1005
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1006
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_1007
Vicarage

AutoCAD SHX Text_1008
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1009
Church

AutoCAD SHX Text_1010
STEPHENSON WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_1011
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1012
Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_1013
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1014
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_1015
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_1016
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1017
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1018
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1019
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1020
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1021
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_1022
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_1023
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1024
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_1025
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_1026
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1027
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1028
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1029
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1030
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1031
St Barnabas'

AutoCAD SHX Text_1032
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1033
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1034
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1035
ST BARNABAS CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1036
CARNOT STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_1037
CARLISLE STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_1038
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1039
11.9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1040
Garage

AutoCAD SHX Text_1041
CARLETON STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_1042
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1043
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_1044
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1045
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1046
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1047
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1048
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1049
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_1050
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1051
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_1052
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1053
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1054
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1055
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_1056
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1057
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1058
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1059
CINDER LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1060
KINGSLAND TERRACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1061
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1062
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_1063
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1064
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1065
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1066
13.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1067
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1068
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1069
18.9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1070
19.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1071
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1072
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1073
Love Lane

AutoCAD SHX Text_1074
Hotel

AutoCAD SHX Text_1075
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1076
119

AutoCAD SHX Text_1077
ALBEMARLE ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1078
13.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1079
21.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1080
16.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1081
9.4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1082
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1083
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1084
Chy

AutoCAD SHX Text_1085
17.4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1086
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1087
ROMAN BURIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1088
Station

AutoCAD SHX Text_1089
Sorting Office

AutoCAD SHX Text_1090
York

AutoCAD SHX Text_1091
14.9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1092
14.9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1093
Arch

AutoCAD SHX Text_1094
9.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1095
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1096
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_1097
QUEEN STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_1098
Ramp

AutoCAD SHX Text_1099
Marble

AutoCAD SHX Text_1100
14.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1101
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1102
City Wall

AutoCAD SHX Text_1103
YORK

AutoCAD SHX Text_1104
Hotel

AutoCAD SHX Text_1105
GROUND

AutoCAD SHX Text_1106
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_1107
12.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1108
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_1109
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1110
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1111
15.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1112
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1113
10a

AutoCAD SHX Text_1114
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_1115
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1116
66

AutoCAD SHX Text_1117
GREENCLIFFE DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1118
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1119
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1120
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1121
THE AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1122
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_1123
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_1124
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1125
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1126
54

AutoCAD SHX Text_1127
Tennis

AutoCAD SHX Text_1128
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1129
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1130
OUSECLIFFE GARDENS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1131
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_1132
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_1133
GROVE VIEW

AutoCAD SHX Text_1134
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_1135
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_1136
8a

AutoCAD SHX Text_1137
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1138
78a

AutoCAD SHX Text_1139
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_1140
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1141
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_1142
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1143
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1144
78

AutoCAD SHX Text_1145
8b

AutoCAD SHX Text_1146
15.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1147
8.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1148
14.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1149
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1150
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1151
Boat House

AutoCAD SHX Text_1152
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1153
Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_1154
14.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1155
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1156
GOVERNMENT HOUSE ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1157
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1158
WESTMINSTER ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1159
8.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1160
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1161
11.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1162
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_1163
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_1164
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1165
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1166
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_1167
7 6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1168
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1169
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_1170
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_1171
Sloping masonry

AutoCAD SHX Text_1172
SM

AutoCAD SHX Text_1173
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1174
14 13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1175
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_1176
SYCAMORE PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1177
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1178
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_1179
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1180
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_1181
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_1182
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1183
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1184
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_1185
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1186
MP .25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1187
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1188
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_1189
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1190
QUEEN ANNE'S ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1191
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1192
Earlsborough Terrace

AutoCAD SHX Text_1193
Landing

AutoCAD SHX Text_1194
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1195
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1196
17 16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1197
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1198
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1199
NORTH PARADE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1200
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1201
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_1202
Boat

AutoCAD SHX Text_1203
SL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1204
8.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1205
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_1206
Sloping

AutoCAD SHX Text_1207
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1208
LONGFIELD TERRACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1209
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_1210
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1211
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1212
Signal Gantry

AutoCAD SHX Text_1213
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1214
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1215
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1216
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1217
8.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1218
Clifton Long Reach

AutoCAD SHX Text_1219
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1220
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1221
SYCAMORE TERRACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1222
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_1223
masonry

AutoCAD SHX Text_1224
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_1225
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_1226
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1227
2a

AutoCAD SHX Text_1228
ALMERY TERRACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1229
56

AutoCAD SHX Text_1230
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1231
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1232
7.9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1233
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1234
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_1235
SP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1236
ST JAMES COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text_1237
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_1238
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_1239
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1240
15.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1241
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_1242
Cinder Mews

AutoCAD SHX Text_1243
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_1244
Stage

AutoCAD SHX Text_1245
Car Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_1246
L Twr

AutoCAD SHX Text_1247
L Twr

AutoCAD SHX Text_1248
8.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1249
13.4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1250
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_1251
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1252
70

AutoCAD SHX Text_1253
Landing

AutoCAD SHX Text_1254
Stage

AutoCAD SHX Text_1255
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1256
LEEMAN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1257
MP .25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1258
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_1259
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1260
MP .5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1261
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1262
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_1263
Sloping masonry

AutoCAD SHX Text_1264
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_1265
8.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1266
Clifton Long Reach

AutoCAD SHX Text_1267
8.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1268
72

AutoCAD SHX Text_1269
8.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1270
8.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1271
Landing

AutoCAD SHX Text_1272
8.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1273
Kensington House

AutoCAD SHX Text_1274
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1275
80

AutoCAD SHX Text_1276
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1277
S Gantry

AutoCAD SHX Text_1278
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1279
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_1280
1to8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1281
60

AutoCAD SHX Text_1282
L Twr

AutoCAD SHX Text_1283
53

AutoCAD SHX Text_1284
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1285
43 to

AutoCAD SHX Text_1286
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_1287
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_1288
Railway Museum

AutoCAD SHX Text_1289
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1290
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_1291
North Junction

AutoCAD SHX Text_1292
L Twr

AutoCAD SHX Text_1293
Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_1294
(disused)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1295
Shaft

AutoCAD SHX Text_1296
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1297
16.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1298
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1299
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1300
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1301
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1302
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1303
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1304
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_1305
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1306
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1307
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_1308
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_1309
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1310
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1311
Tunnel

AutoCAD SHX Text_1312
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1313
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1314
UPPER ST PAUL'S TERRACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1315
L Twr

AutoCAD SHX Text_1316
18.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1317
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1318
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_1319
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_1320
51 to 74

AutoCAD SHX Text_1321
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1322
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1323
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_1324
Sloping masonry

AutoCAD SHX Text_1325
18.9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1326
16.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1327
L Twr

AutoCAD SHX Text_1328
National

AutoCAD SHX Text_1329
16.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1330
14.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1331
15.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1332
Chy

AutoCAD SHX Text_1333
National

AutoCAD SHX Text_1334
20.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1335
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_1336
WB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1337
Cinder Lane

AutoCAD SHX Text_1338
CLEVELAND STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_1339
Tank

AutoCAD SHX Text_1340
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_1341
Works

AutoCAD SHX Text_1342
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_1343
Railway Museum

AutoCAD SHX Text_1344
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_1345
LEEMAN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1346
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1347
ST PAULS MEWS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1348
L Twr

AutoCAD SHX Text_1349
WILTON RISE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1350
18.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1351
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1352
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1353
15.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1354
75

AutoCAD SHX Text_1355
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1356
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1357
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1358
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1359
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_1360
SCARCROFT ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1361
THE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1362
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1363
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_1364
61

AutoCAD SHX Text_1365
15.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1366
EAST MOUNT ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1367
TCBs

AutoCAD SHX Text_1368
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_1369
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1370
86

AutoCAD SHX Text_1371
THE MOUNT

AutoCAD SHX Text_1372
Railway

AutoCAD SHX Text_1373
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1374
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1375
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1376
21a

AutoCAD SHX Text_1377
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1378
80

AutoCAD SHX Text_1379
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1380
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_1381
84

AutoCAD SHX Text_1382
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_1383
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1384
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1385
74

AutoCAD SHX Text_1386
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1387
Hotel

AutoCAD SHX Text_1388
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1389
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1390
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_1391
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_1392
PARK STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_1393
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1394
70

AutoCAD SHX Text_1395
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_1396
Odeon

AutoCAD SHX Text_1397
BLOSSOM STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_1398
92

AutoCAD SHX Text_1399
77

AutoCAD SHX Text_1400
89

AutoCAD SHX Text_1401
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1402
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1403
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1404
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_1405
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1406
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1407
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1408
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1409
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1410
88

AutoCAD SHX Text_1411
26 22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1412
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1413
60

AutoCAD SHX Text_1414
16.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1415
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_1416
62

AutoCAD SHX Text_1417
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_1418
SOUTH PARADE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1419
28 to 40

AutoCAD SHX Text_1420
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1421
56

AutoCAD SHX Text_1422
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1423
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1424
90

AutoCAD SHX Text_1425
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_1426
Buildings

AutoCAD SHX Text_1427
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1428
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1429
CRESCENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_1430
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1431
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_1432
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1433
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1434
MOSS STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_1435
13.7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1436
13.4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1437
Club

AutoCAD SHX Text_1438
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_1439
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1440
15.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1441
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_1442
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1443
SHAW'S TERRACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1444
63

AutoCAD SHX Text_1445
Institute

AutoCAD SHX Text_1446
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1447
77

AutoCAD SHX Text_1448
79

AutoCAD SHX Text_1449
PC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1450
66

AutoCAD SHX Text_1451
St Mary's Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_1452
Tank

AutoCAD SHX Text_1453
16.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1454
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1455
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1456
16.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1457
ROMAN

AutoCAD SHX Text_1458
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1459
7 to 12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1460
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1461
112

AutoCAD SHX Text_1462
ST PAULS MEWS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1463
THE MOUNT

AutoCAD SHX Text_1464
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_1465
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1466
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1467
1 to 6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1468
CAMBRIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1469
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1470
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1471
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_1472
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_1473
Martyrs

AutoCAD SHX Text_1474
RAILWAY TERRACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1475
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_1476
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1477
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1478
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1479
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1480
18.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1481
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1482
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1483
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1484
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1485
18.9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1486
66

AutoCAD SHX Text_1487
17.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1488
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_1489
17.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1490
1 to 10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1491
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_1492
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1493
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1494
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1495
85

AutoCAD SHX Text_1496
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_1497
17.4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1498
HOLGATE ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1499
Winchester

AutoCAD SHX Text_1500
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1501
134

AutoCAD SHX Text_1502
MOUNT PARADE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1503
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1504
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1505
120

AutoCAD SHX Text_1506
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_1507
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1508
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_1509
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_1510
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_1511
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_1512
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_1513
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1514
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1515
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_1516
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1517
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1518
The

AutoCAD SHX Text_1519
of the

AutoCAD SHX Text_1520
Playing Fields

AutoCAD SHX Text_1521
116

AutoCAD SHX Text_1522
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1523
1 to 20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1524
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1525
60

AutoCAD SHX Text_1526
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_1527
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_1528
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1529
110

AutoCAD SHX Text_1530
7 to 12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1531
Church

AutoCAD SHX Text_1532
20.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1533
67

AutoCAD SHX Text_1534
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_1535
16.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1536
66

AutoCAD SHX Text_1537
20.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1538
Love Lane

AutoCAD SHX Text_1539
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1540
116

AutoCAD SHX Text_1541
St Catherine's

AutoCAD SHX Text_1542
57

AutoCAD SHX Text_1543
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_1544
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1545
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1546
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1547
SQUARE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1548
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1549
LOWTHER TERRACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1550
Presbytery

AutoCAD SHX Text_1551
76

AutoCAD SHX Text_1552
MP 188

AutoCAD SHX Text_1553
The

AutoCAD SHX Text_1554
Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_1555
19.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1556
106

AutoCAD SHX Text_1557
The

AutoCAD SHX Text_1558
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1559
Holgate Road Bridge

AutoCAD SHX Text_1560
1 to 10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1561
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_1562
16.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1563
Suffolk

AutoCAD SHX Text_1564
SL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1565
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1566
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1567
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1568
96

AutoCAD SHX Text_1569
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1570
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1571
7 to 10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1572
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_1573
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_1574
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1575
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1576
1 to 6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1577
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_1578
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1579
Surgery

AutoCAD SHX Text_1580
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_1581
OXFORD STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_1582
MOUNT EPHRAIM

AutoCAD SHX Text_1583
Westmorland

AutoCAD SHX Text_1584
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_1585
14.9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1586
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1587
English

AutoCAD SHX Text_1588
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1589
BURIAL GROUND

AutoCAD SHX Text_1590
14.9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1591
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1592
Mount School

AutoCAD SHX Text_1593
DRIFFIELD TERRACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1594
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1595
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_1596
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1597
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1598
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1599
Mews

AutoCAD SHX Text_1600
BRIDGE GARDENS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1601
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_1602
77

AutoCAD SHX Text_1603
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1604
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1605
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1606
96

AutoCAD SHX Text_1607
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1608
DALTON TERRACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1609
38 36

AutoCAD SHX Text_1610
Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_1611
92

AutoCAD SHX Text_1612
7 to 12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1613
18.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1614
1 to 10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1615
13.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1616
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1617
Mill Mount

AutoCAD SHX Text_1618
71

AutoCAD SHX Text_1619
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1620
Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_1621
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1622
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1623
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1624
ST PAUL'S

AutoCAD SHX Text_1625
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_1626
1 to 7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1627
WATSON STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_1628
98

AutoCAD SHX Text_1629
Terrace

AutoCAD SHX Text_1630
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1631
STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_1632
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_1633
to

AutoCAD SHX Text_1634
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1635
109

AutoCAD SHX Text_1636
16.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1637
19.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1638
14.9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1639
Holgate Junction

AutoCAD SHX Text_1640
106

AutoCAD SHX Text_1641
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_1642
Stafford House

AutoCAD SHX Text_1643
14.9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1644
Mount

AutoCAD SHX Text_1645
150

AutoCAD SHX Text_1646
117

AutoCAD SHX Text_1647
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1648
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1649
MILL MOUNT COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text_1650
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1651
107

AutoCAD SHX Text_1652
MILL MOUNT

AutoCAD SHX Text_1653
91

AutoCAD SHX Text_1654
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1655
103

AutoCAD SHX Text_1656
Mount

AutoCAD SHX Text_1657
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1658
1 to 6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1659
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_1660
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1661
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1662
13.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1663
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1664
Oxford

AutoCAD SHX Text_1665
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1666
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1667
Tennis Courts

AutoCAD SHX Text_1668
114

AutoCAD SHX Text_1669
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_1670
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1671
WATSON TERRACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1672
18.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1673
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1674
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1675
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1676
Church

AutoCAD SHX Text_1677
St Paul's

AutoCAD SHX Text_1678
CECILIA PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1679
80

AutoCAD SHX Text_1680
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1681
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1682
111

AutoCAD SHX Text_1683
Lodge

AutoCAD SHX Text_1684
HOLGATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1685
136

AutoCAD SHX Text_1686
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1687
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1688
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1689
1 to 10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1690
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1691
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1692
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1693
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1694
ST PAUL'S TERRACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1695
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1696
36 to 38

AutoCAD SHX Text_1697
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_1698
1 to 6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1699
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1700
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1701
1 to 10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1702
54

AutoCAD SHX Text_1703
15.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1704
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_1705
17.7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1706
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1707
124

AutoCAD SHX Text_1708
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_1709
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_1710
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_1711
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1712
14.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1713
13.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1714
FS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1715
(private)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1716
ROMAN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1717
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1718
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1719
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1720
ROMAN BURIAL GROUND

AutoCAD SHX Text_1721
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_1722
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1723
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1724
Church

AutoCAD SHX Text_1725
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1726
School

AutoCAD SHX Text_1727
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1728
Clifton

AutoCAD SHX Text_1729
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1730
St Peter's

AutoCAD SHX Text_1731
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_1732
Club

AutoCAD SHX Text_1733
CLIFTON

AutoCAD SHX Text_1734
Club

AutoCAD SHX Text_1735
Burton

AutoCAD SHX Text_1736
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_1737
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_1738
56

AutoCAD SHX Text_1739
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_1740
Methodist

AutoCAD SHX Text_1741
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_1742
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1743
School

AutoCAD SHX Text_1744
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1745
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1746
44 42

AutoCAD SHX Text_1747
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1748
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1749
Sunday

AutoCAD SHX Text_1750
Surgery

AutoCAD SHX Text_1751
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_1752
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1753
15.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1754
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1755
Chapel

AutoCAD SHX Text_1756
Hotel

AutoCAD SHX Text_1757
1 to 2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1758
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1759
Clifton Holme Mews

AutoCAD SHX Text_1760
77

AutoCAD SHX Text_1761
66

AutoCAD SHX Text_1762
75

AutoCAD SHX Text_1763
67

AutoCAD SHX Text_1764
68 to

AutoCAD SHX Text_1765
79

AutoCAD SHX Text_1766
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_1767
54 to 64

AutoCAD SHX Text_1768
74

AutoCAD SHX Text_1769
63

AutoCAD SHX Text_1770
73

AutoCAD SHX Text_1771
to 83

AutoCAD SHX Text_1772
69

AutoCAD SHX Text_1773
42 to

AutoCAD SHX Text_1774
78

AutoCAD SHX Text_1775
67

AutoCAD SHX Text_1776
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_1777
78

AutoCAD SHX Text_1778
68

AutoCAD SHX Text_1779
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_1780
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1781
BISHOPSFIELDS DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1782
15 to

AutoCAD SHX Text_1783
MARTINS COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text_1784
134

AutoCAD SHX Text_1785
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_1786
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_1787
90

AutoCAD SHX Text_1788
124

AutoCAD SHX Text_1789
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1790
128

AutoCAD SHX Text_1791
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1792
98

AutoCAD SHX Text_1793
14 to

AutoCAD SHX Text_1794
20 to 25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1795
1 to 6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1796
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1797
14 to 19

AutoCAD SHX Text_1798
PHOENIX BOULEVARD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1799
7 to 12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1800
2 to 12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1801
1 to 11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1802
Mount

AutoCAD SHX Text_1803
Mount Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_1804
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_1805
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1806
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1807
to

AutoCAD SHX Text_1808
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_1809
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1810
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1811
1 to 6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1812
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1813
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_1814
44 to 49

AutoCAD SHX Text_1815
56

AutoCAD SHX Text_1816
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_1817
Martins Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_1818
47 to 52

AutoCAD SHX Text_1819
37 to 42

AutoCAD SHX Text_1820
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_1821
26 to

AutoCAD SHX Text_1822
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_1823
HARDISTY MEWS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1824
57 to 62

AutoCAD SHX Text_1825
53

AutoCAD SHX Text_1826
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_1827
29 to 34

AutoCAD SHX Text_1828
50 to 55

AutoCAD SHX Text_1829
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_1830
to

AutoCAD SHX Text_1831
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_1832
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1833
91

AutoCAD SHX Text_1834
1 to 21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1835
Langton Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_1836
1 to 4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1837
Grasmead House

AutoCAD SHX Text_1838
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1839
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1840
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1841
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1842
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1843
16 to 21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1844
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1845
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1846
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1847
55 to 65

AutoCAD SHX Text_1848
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1849
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1850
84

AutoCAD SHX Text_1851
87

AutoCAD SHX Text_1852
St Olaves School

AutoCAD SHX Text_1853
Hardisty Cloisters

AutoCAD SHX Text_1854
1 to 21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1855
BISHOPSFIELDS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1856
Bishopfields

AutoCAD SHX Text_1857
1 to 17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1858
Cloisters

AutoCAD SHX Text_1859
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1860
122

AutoCAD SHX Text_1861
Meridian

AutoCAD SHX Text_1862
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_1863
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1864
Masters House

AutoCAD SHX Text_1865
1 to 10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1866
Centenary House

AutoCAD SHX Text_1867
1 to 7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1868
1 to 7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1869
Assembly House

AutoCAD SHX Text_1870
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_1871
100 to 110

AutoCAD SHX Text_1872
1 to 11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1873
114

AutoCAD SHX Text_1874
Car Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_1875
Stephenson's Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_1876
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_1877
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_1878
Car Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_1879
Flag Staff

AutoCAD SHX Text_1880
Helipad

AutoCAD SHX Text_1881
1 to 14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1882
15 to 22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1883
Hotel

AutoCAD SHX Text_1884
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_1885
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_1886
49a

AutoCAD SHX Text_1887
Trinity House

AutoCAD SHX Text_1888
1 to 5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1889
St Paul's

AutoCAD SHX Text_1890
Church of England

AutoCAD SHX Text_1891
Voluntary Controlled

AutoCAD SHX Text_1892
Primary School

AutoCAD SHX Text_1893
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_1894
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1895
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1896
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1897
to 6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1898
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_1899
Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_1900
70a

AutoCAD SHX Text_1901
74

AutoCAD SHX Text_1902
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_1903
CR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1904
CP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1905
Ward Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_1906
Ward Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_1907
CR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1908
CR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1909
Ward Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_1910
Ward Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_1911
CR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1912
Kings

AutoCAD SHX Text_1913
1 to 8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1914
Cloisters

AutoCAD SHX Text_1915
104

AutoCAD SHX Text_1916
54

AutoCAD SHX Text_1917
Tunnel

AutoCAD SHX Text_1918
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1919
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1920
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1921
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1922
75

AutoCAD SHX Text_1923
Hotel

AutoCAD SHX Text_1924
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_1925
5b

AutoCAD SHX Text_1926
39a

AutoCAD SHX Text_1927
The

AutoCAD SHX Text_1928
Coach

AutoCAD SHX Text_1929
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_1930
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1931
Bridge

AutoCAD SHX Text_1932
Scarborough

AutoCAD SHX Text_1933
Car Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_1934
York

AutoCAD SHX Text_1935
Engineer's Triangle

AutoCAD SHX Text_1936
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_1937
Cycle Way

AutoCAD SHX Text_1938
Ps

AutoCAD SHX Text_1939
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_1940
Leeman Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_1941
Nature Reserve

AutoCAD SHX Text_1942
Wentworth

AutoCAD SHX Text_1943
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_1944
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_1945
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_1946
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_1947
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_1948
Wagon Repair Depot

AutoCAD SHX Text_1949
27a

AutoCAD SHX Text_1950
1a

AutoCAD SHX Text_1951
Ouse

AutoCAD SHX Text_1952
River

AutoCAD SHX Text_1953
River Ouse

AutoCAD SHX Text_1954
River Ouse

AutoCAD SHX Text_1955
Ward Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_1956
CR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1957
Ward Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_1958
Ward Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_1959
Ward Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_1960
CR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1961
CR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1962
Ward Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_1963
124

AutoCAD SHX Text_1964
122

AutoCAD SHX Text_1965
Pp

AutoCAD SHX Text_1966
11.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1967
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1968
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1969
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1970
Cinema

AutoCAD SHX Text_1971
Esplanade (Path)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1972
The Esplanade (Path)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1973
Cinder Lane (Path)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1974
Railway Walk (Path)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1975
Cinder Lane (Path)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1976
The Esplanade (Path)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1977
14.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1978
1 to 51

AutoCAD SHX Text_1979
The Walk

AutoCAD SHX Text_1980
ST CATHERINES PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1981
Sports

AutoCAD SHX Text_1982
Pavilion

AutoCAD SHX Text_1983
Hotel

AutoCAD SHX Text_1984
57

AutoCAD SHX Text_1985
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_1986
CR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1987
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1988
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1989
Hotel

AutoCAD SHX Text_1990
Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_1991
THE MOUNT

AutoCAD SHX Text_1992
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1993
Car Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_1994
ESS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1995
Childrens

AutoCAD SHX Text_1996
Model Passenger Railway

AutoCAD SHX Text_1997
Car Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_1998
Signal Gantry

AutoCAD SHX Text_1999
Turntable

AutoCAD SHX Text_2000
Shelters

AutoCAD SHX Text_2001
Shelter

AutoCAD SHX Text_2002
York Brewery

AutoCAD SHX Text_2003
Shelter

AutoCAD SHX Text_2004
Garage

AutoCAD SHX Text_2005
Sports Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_2006
Shelter

AutoCAD SHX Text_2007
SPs

AutoCAD SHX Text_2008
Car Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_2009
Play Area

AutoCAD SHX Text_2010
Nursery

AutoCAD SHX Text_2011
ALDBOROUGH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2012
200

AutoCAD SHX Text_2013
Signal Box

AutoCAD SHX Text_2014
5a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2015
JUBILEE TERRACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2016
Dorset House

AutoCAD SHX Text_2017
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_2018
Und

AutoCAD SHX Text_2019
14.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2020
Nursery

AutoCAD SHX Text_2021
68

AutoCAD SHX Text_2022
Stable Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_2023
St Paul's

AutoCAD SHX Text_2024
ESS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2025
Primary School

AutoCAD SHX Text_2026
Catesby House

AutoCAD SHX Text_2027
Talbot House

AutoCAD SHX Text_2028
Play Area

AutoCAD SHX Text_2029
51

AutoCAD SHX Text_2030
Church of England

AutoCAD SHX Text_2031
ENFIELD CRESCENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_2032
Play Area

AutoCAD SHX Text_2033
Timber Yard

AutoCAD SHX Text_2034
Cambridge

AutoCAD SHX Text_2035
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_2036
Woodville

AutoCAD SHX Text_2037
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2038
Works

AutoCAD SHX Text_2039
School

AutoCAD SHX Text_2040
Saint Barnabas

AutoCAD SHX Text_2041
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_2042
WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2043
Voluntary Controlled

AutoCAD SHX Text_2044
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_2045
Works

AutoCAD SHX Text_2046
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_2047
Hotel

AutoCAD SHX Text_2048
Shelter

AutoCAD SHX Text_2049
Bowling Green

AutoCAD SHX Text_2050
97

AutoCAD SHX Text_2051
Sports Facility

AutoCAD SHX Text_2052
Sports Facility

AutoCAD SHX Text_2053
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_2054
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_2055
SM

AutoCAD SHX Text_2056
Sports Facility

AutoCAD SHX Text_2057
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_2058
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2059
Tennis Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_2060
Club

AutoCAD SHX Text_2061
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2062
SM

AutoCAD SHX Text_2063
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_2064
Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_2065
Lilac Cott

AutoCAD SHX Text_2066
The Glen

AutoCAD SHX Text_2067
Playing Fields

AutoCAD SHX Text_2068
Nursery

AutoCAD SHX Text_2069
Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_2070
Lodge

AutoCAD SHX Text_2071
Clifton Holme

AutoCAD SHX Text_2072
8.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2073
Aug 18

ddthrpi
Typewritten Text
Annex A




T
his page is intentionally left blank



Annex B 

 

Hostile Vehicle Mitigation 

 

The threat 

Recent terrorist incidents both in Europe and the UK have shown a 
different method of attack. This method uses the Vehicle As a Weapon 
(VAW) by gaining speed and entering crowded areas to hit as many 
people as possible. This style of attack is very simplistic and takes 
minimal planning to carry out.  As the barriers to entry for organising an 
attack are lower, there are an increasing number of attacks and a much 
higher likelihood that they will occur in the future. Due to the minimal 
planning requirement of the method, those with hostile intent may not 
come to the attention of the security services as they might when 
attempting to procure materials for the manufacture of an IED 
(improvised explosive device). 
 
The vehicles which have been used in this form of attack have varied 
(please see diagram below for illustrative purposes) from a 40t 
articulated lorry (Berlin attack 2016) to a sports utility vehicle (SUV) 
(Westminster attack 2017). The largest threat to the UK from this form of 
attack has been identified by CPNI as the N1G 2.5t 4 x 4 and the N3C 
18t Lorry (as used in the Bastille day Nice attack in July 2016). The N1G 
vehicles can turn corners faster, accelerate more quickly and handle 
difficult terrain or mount footways with ease when compared to trucks. 
They are also considerably easier to acquire by theft due to their 
popularity and as all full EU license holders can drive them they can be 
easily rented. The 18-tonne N3C lorry has been identified as a threat 
due to their popularity as delivery lorries in cities and towns meaning 
there is more opportunity for one to be hijacked and swiftly used in an 
attack. Their size means that when hitting densely crowded areas they 
are less likely to become immobilised due to blockage in the 
undercarriage or wheels. 
 

Page 29



 
 
The method of attack for a VAW is to manoeuvre into place behind a 
protective line (possibly at low speed) then to accelerate to a high speed 
and to collide with as many people as possible for maximum effect. If the 
vehicle is stopped, the perpetrators could continue on foot as a 
marauding attack with either firearms or bladed weapons. 
 
Attack Planning 
 
When using a vehicle as a means of attack, a terrorist will take into 
consideration the potential payoff in terms of propaganda (including the 
profile of the target), its economic value, disruption caused or the 
opportunity to cause mass casualties. Recent attacks in London and 

Page 30



Manchester were crude but achieved high profile propaganda for the 
proponents. 
 
The ability to reach the target without being detected or stopped on route 
will be taken into consideration as will the ease of access. Enhanced 
police presence and road closures will reduce the likelihood of an attack.  
 
Pre-attack planning can range from the complex and detailed, 
undertaken over a period of time, to something based on the terrorist’s 
familiarity with the target. During the planning phase, there will be a 
period of information gathering confirming approach routes and point(s) 
of attack to achieve the desired effect. 
 
The installation of barriers, planters and walls will act as a visual 
deterrent to a vehicle attack (Cameras, street lighting, an intermittent 
police presence do not). It should be remembered that the terrorist is not 
deterred by the prospect of being caught or killed in the act; their 
intention is to maximize fatalities to gain a reaction. 
 
More capable and experienced groups, with access to the support of 
sympathisers, will be able to pool the gathered information. They are 
also more able to carry out more complex attacks, including those using 
ringer vehicles, false documents and such like. Less capable groups and 
lone actors launching less complex attacks are more likely to carry out 
information gathering and planning themselves. 
 

Priority of Locations 
 
The table below shows the priority for the locations. The highest priority 
to secure is Parliament Street due to events and access of attack: 

Page 31



 

* Priority 1 locations to be installed first in order to protect Parliament Street during events. 
*Priority 2 locations installation order to be confirmed. 

 
Whilst the proposed scheme comprises 22 locations and covers a large 
area of York City Centre it is recognised that some places are more 
likely to be at risk from a threat perspective than others. With this in mind 
the locations have been categorised as either Priority 1 or Priority 2, with 
1 being the highest rating.  
The basis on which the locations have been prioritised has comprised 
their position within the city centre, usage, vulnerability, and pedestrian 
and traffic flow. Given the size of the overall scheme it is not feasible to 
install all the measures as one continuous programme of works due to 
restrictions such as budgetary constraints, timing of street closures, 
community disruption and the holding of local events. Therefore, it is 
necessary to prioritise those locations which are deemed to be the most 

Page 32



vulnerable and could be undertaken within an achievable programme of 
works which offers the most scope for the protection of crowded places 
in an iconic city.  
 
The heart of the city is centred on Parliament Street, Spurriergate and 
Coney Street. These are the main shopping streets in the city and as 
such attract a large number of visitors. At any given time, there is a high 
footfall and coupled with dwell time this presents an ideal location for 
those with hostile intent. Furthermore, many events such as festivals 
and markets take place on Parliament Street and in the surrounding 
area and it serves as the focal point for other civic occasions. These 
occur throughout the year and attract large numbers of visitors, 
especially at times such as Christmas and during the summer months.  
Having identified the three streets as those at most risk of attack within 
the scheme, it resulted in them as being categorised as Priority 1 
locations. In order to provide the necessary protection to the area it is 
necessary to prevent vehicular access by installing HVM measures. 
Placing these measures at the ends of Parliament Street, Spurriergate 
and Coney Street does not provide complete protection due to the other 
streets which also provide access to the area. These routes include 
Davygate, Finkle Street, Church Street and Jubbergate. It is necessary 
therefore to install HVM measures to prevent vehicular access to these 
streets and in turn Parliament Street, Spurriergate and Coney Street. 
Because these streets are linked directly to Parliament Street, 
Spurriergate and Coney Street they too must be categorised as Priority 
1. They are also streets which experience the same levels of pedestrian 
footfall and dwell time as Parliament Street, Spurriergate and Coney 
Street.  
 
St Sampson’s Square which sits within the city centre area will also be 
afforded protection by the installation of HVM measures at the specified 
locations identified as being Priority 1. This square has significant events 
situated within its confines throughout the year and would be likely 
location for those with hostile intent.  
Priority 2 locations have been determined on the basis that HVM 

measures need to be installed at these points however the threat is not 

as great as those listed as Priority 1. These locations are situated 

around the periphery of the main city centre and provide pedestrian and 

vehicular access to those areas identified as being Priority 1. Measures 

would be installed following the completion of the Priority 1 locations. 

Priority 2 areas do not have the same volume of pedestrians as those 

listed as Priority 1, and whilst they are still considered to be vulnerable to 

Page 33



an attack, they are not as attractive a target to those with hostile intent 

as the Priority 1 locations. 

Page 34



Page 35

ddthrpi_1
Typewritten Text
Annex C



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 37

ddthrpi_2
Typewritten Text
Annex C



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

PRIORITIES 
 
 

 3 Sep: Portfolio 
holders/CMT 

 18 Sep: Exec go live 
 27 Sep  - Exec 
 (Sep)– Scrutiny 

decision-making 
 Ongoing: city centre 

events and installing 
temp measures 

 Oct: Key Stakeholder 
engagement 

 1/11/18 – temp 
measures installed. TRO 
engagement begins.  

 April 2019: report goes 
to full exec re findings 
of TRO 

 May onwards: design of 
perm measures 

 12 weeks design 
 16 weeks procurement 
  ? installation 
 

 

 
 

Annex D 
 

Communications plan for City Centre Access  
To build support the introduction of counter-terrorism measures 
and engage affected stakeholders in mitigating impact  

Objectives 
 
Residents, businesses and 
affected groups understand 
York’s duty to protect, and think 
that the measures are necessary, 
see that York city centre is an 
increasingly safe place to visit.  
 
Residents, businesses and 
affected groups feel informed of 
the risks and included in 
mitigating the impact of the 
measures.  
 
Affected groups engage in 
processes to understand the 
impact of the measures and 
mitigate against them. City 
retailers and leaders explore the 
opportunities to support the city 
centre economy.  

Strategy 
 
•Build advocacy through partner organisations 
and representative bodies 
•Targeted engagement with key affected groups 
to understand behaviour and develop mitigation 
ahead of any TRO proposals 
•Provide drumbeat to reassure York residents that 
the council is discharging its duty to protect and 
taking action to make the city safer,  but that 
there is no specific threat to York (using Servator 
messaging) and following Safer York partnership 
comms plan.  
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 39



Text in footer 2 

• Businesses, retailers, market stall holders, 
hotels 

• Emergency services, council services, 
utilities 

• City centre residents 

• Blue/green badge holders 
• Haulage/deliveries 
• City leadership – ward, exec, MP 
• Civic trust/heritage groups 
• Royal mail and bullion 

• Cyclists, taxis and other users identified 
through baseline research 

• NRM (train) 
• Minster and other churches 

 

1. Build advocacy through partners 
2. Targeted engagement with directly affected groups 
3. Reassuring drumbeat 

 
 

Advocacy: partners sharing information, registering their supportive comments, securing comments from their members 
Targeted: # of each stakeholder filling in survey/responding to visits/attending workshops 
Drumbeat: tbc 

Residents, businesses and affected groups think that the measures are necessary, and that York city centre is a safe place to visit.  
Residents, businesses and affected groups council feel informed of the risks and included in mitigating the impact of the 
measures.  
Affected groups engage in processes to understand the impact of the measures and mitigate against them. City retailers and 
leaders explore the opportunities to support the city centre economy.  

Communications/campaign plan for  

OBJECTIVES 

AUDIENCE 

STRATEGY 

IMPLEMENTATION 

EVALUATION 

Build advocacy 
•Agree messaging and messenger from the police. 
•Early involvement of cross-party political leadership from across 
the city 
•CYC/police brief media ahead of significant engagement work – 
they hear about plans and measures directly from us, first.  
•Work through representative groups and their trusted channels 
of communication 
•Early involvement of Civic Trust and heritage groups in design 
work 
•Senior councillor briefings on consultant recommendations 

Targeted engagement 
•Meet with representative groups to introduce the scheme, discuss 
mitigation and channels to further engage their membership 
•Door-knock and letter to every resident living or parking in 
affected area 
•Visit every city centre retailer  
•Build database of city centre retailer contacts (after identifying 
what we already have)  
•Build database of delivery companies identified through retailer 
work 
•Build database of blue badge holders through amnesty campaigns 
and baseline work 
•Online and physical survey for stakeholders to complete 
•Invite all known stakeholders to workshop exercises with retailers, 
market stallholders, blue badge holders, delivery companies 
•Full TRO engagements 

Reassuring drumbeat 
•Develop collateral explaining the scheme –  police, consultants 
and affected stakeholders as advocates 
•Media briefings (see above) 
•Include reference to the experience of security consultants on all 
comms 
•Fold messaging in to all Servator/security messaging through Safer 
York Partnership 

P
age 40



  

 
 

  

 
 

Annex E  
 

 

 

Our ref: LR/SR 

Your ref:       

Date: 17 August 2018 

Name and address: Mary Weastell 
Chief Executive 
City of York Council 
West Officers 
Station Rise 
York 
YO1 6GA 
 

 
 
Dear Mary, 
 
North Yorkshire Police support for Hostile Vehicle Mitigation (HVM) measures 
 
Thank you for the recent invitation to meet Executive Members which took place on Monday 6th 
August 2018. Following my attendance, I would like to place on record my support, on behalf of 
North Yorkshire Police, in relation to the proposed HVM measures planned for the City of York.  
 
As I am sure you are aware, the national threat level remains at severe. This means that a terrorist 
attack is highly likely and any attack is likely to come without notice. Further, there has been a clear 
shift in attack methodology, from complex pre-planned coordinated attacks such as those seen at 
the World Trade Center to the more recent attacks on mainland Europe and those in the United 
Kingdom where attack planning is very basic, including the use of hire vehicles and knives as 
weapons.  
 
Public spaces are currently the most favoured locations because they have ready access to a large 
number of potential victims. York has very tight streets where there are large crowds of people 
regularly going about their daily business. Any attack carried out by a vehicle is therefore likely to 
result in multiple fatalities and many significant injuries. 
 
Currently there are no suitable vehicle mitigation measures in York. My colleague, Superintendent 
Mark Khan, a specialist Security Coordinator, is of the opinion that this is an unacceptable risk for the 
city to carry. I would echo this view, especially when we, as public authorities, have responsibilities 
in relation to the European Convention of Human Rights (ECHR). This is particularly relevant when 
Article 2, The Right to Life, is considered as this article places a positive duty on the state (i.e. public 
bodies) to protect life. 
 
Hostile vehicle mitigation can work in two ways. It can be a visible deterrent and also a physical 
barrier. I am therefore in full support of the proposed measures and look forward to continuing to 
support City of York Council as this work moves forward.  
 
 
 

Page 41



  

 
 

  

 
 

 
Yours sincerely 
 
 

 
 
Superintendent Lindsey Robson 
Area Commander York & Selby 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 42



 
 

 

Community Impact Assessment: Summary 
1.  Name of service, policy, function or criteria being assessed:  

City Centre Access Priority One Area (Experimental Changes) 

2.  What are the main objectives or aims of the service/policy/function/criteria?  

Protection of the foot streets and event locations from hostile vehicle attack 

in the Priority 1 area. 
 

3.  Name and Job Title of person completing assessment:  

Graham Titchener, Parking Services Manager 

4. Have any impacts 
been Identified? 

Yes 

 

Community of 
Identity affected: 

Age; Carers of 
Older or Disabled 
People; Disability; 

Religion/ 

Spirituality/Belief. 

Summary of impact: 

Impact is primarily due to a reduction in 
vehicular access for holders of disabled blue 
badges to the city centre including the St 
Sampson’s Centre.   

5.   Date CIA completed:    03/09/2018 

6.   Signed off by:  Tony Clarke 

7.   I am satisfied that this service/policy/function has been successfully impact assessed. 

Name: Tony Clarke 

Position: Head of Transport 

Date: 7/9/18 

8.   Decision-making body: Date: Decision Details: 

 

Send the completed signed off document to ciasubmission@york.gov.uk It will be published on the 
intranet, as well as on the council website.  

Actions arising from the Assessments will be logged on Verto and progress updates will be required   

 

 

SECTION 1: CIA SUMMARY 

Appendix F Page 43

mailto:ciasubmission@york.gov.uk


 

 
 

 
 

Community Impact Assessment (CIA) 

 

Community Impact Assessment Title:  City Centre Access Priority One Area 

What evidence is available to suggest that the proposed service, policy, function or criteria could have a negative (N), positive (P) or 
no (None) effect on quality of life outcomes? 

Can negative impacts be justified? 
 
 
 
 

Community of Identity: Age 

Evidence Quality of Life Indicators 
Customer Impact 

(N/P/None) 
Staff Impact 
(N/P/None) 

The St Sampson’s centre is a community social centre for 
the over 60’s.  A number of their users access the facility by 
community transport (door to door service) or have a blue 
badge (disabled) and are currently able to park nearby - 
though vehicular access is contrary to the existing traffic 
regulation order. 

 

The priority 1 area of the city centre (see annex A) provides 

Access to services and employment; 
Longevity; Health; Standard of living; 
Individual, family and social life. 

N N 

SECTION 2: CIA FORM 

P
age 44



 

 
 

a significant number of services including retail, food and 
drink as well as access to business services such as banking, 
some hotels and other non-retail businesses. 

Details of Impact 
Can negative 

impacts be 
justified? 

Reason/Action Lead Officer 
Completion 

Date 

Reduction in accessibility of the St Sampson’s 
centre during the footstreet hours, will 
negatively impact those over 60 who rely on 
this facility for social interaction, help and 
guidance. 

 

The restricted access into the priority 1 area 
of the city centre (see annex A) will increase 
the distance between available parking 
spaces and destinations for blue badge 
holders to park during the footstreet hours, 
which depending on the severity of the 
individual’s disability may prove to make 
access into the city centre during the 
footstreet hours more restrictive.   

Y 

The need to secure the city centre 
against hostile vehicle attack is 
considered vital to protect residents and 
visitors in York city centre during the 
busiest part of the day.  

The city’s Dial & Ride service will 
continue to have access to the St. 
Sampson’s centre to drop off and pick up 
passengers including disabled residents. 

Alternative parking for Blue Badge 
holders, which is used currently when St. 
Sampson’s Square is closed for events on 
up to 90 days a year, is available close to 
the area.   

Graham 

Titchener 
Aug 2018 

Community of Identity: Carers of Older or Disabled People 

Evidence Quality of Life Indicators 
Customer Impact 

(N/P/None) 
Staff Impact 
(N/P/None) 

P
age 45



 

 
 

Loss of disabled parking in the city centre impacts both the 
disabled blue badge holder and their carers.  The St 
Sampson’s centre is a community social centre for the over 
60s, reduction in accessibility may prevent use by some of 
their visitors.   

 

The priority 1 area of the city centre (see annex A) provides 
a significant number of services including retail, food and 
drink as well as access to business services such as banking, 
some hotels and other non-retail businesses. 

Access to services & employment; 
Productive & valued activities; Individual, 
family and social life 

N N 

Details of Impact 
Can negative 

impacts be 
justified? 

Reason/Action Lead Officer 
Completion 

Date 

A reduction in access for disabled 
passengers/drivers with loss of parking will 
reduce the accessibility of the city centre and 
access to services located there. 

 
Y 

The need to secure the priority 1 area of 
the city centre (see annex A) against 
hostile vehicle attack is considered vital 
to protect residents and visitors in York 
city centre during the busiest part of the 
day. 

Alternative parking for Blue Badge 
holders, which is used currently when St. 
Sampson’s Square is closed for events on 
up to 90 days a year, is available close to 
the area.   

Graham 

Titchener 
Aug 2018 

P
age 46



 

 
 

Access (door to door) to the St Sampson’s 
Centre facility will be more restricted for 
those unable to travel there unaided which 
may impact on their carers who may rely on 
this centre offering a safe place for their 
dependant. 

Y 

The need to secure the priority 1 area of 
the city centre (see annex A) against 
hostile vehicle attack is considered vital 
to protect residents and visitors in York 
city centre during the busiest part of the 
day.  

The city’s Dial & Ride service will 
continue to have access to the St. 
Sampson’s centre to drop off and pick up 
passengers including disabled residents. 

  

 
 
 
 

Community of Identity: Disability 

Evidence Quality of Life Indicators 
Customer Impact 

(N/P/None) 
Staff Impact 
(N/P/None) 

Loss of disabled parking in the city centre impacts both the 
disabled and their carers.  The St Sampson’s centre is a 
community social centre for the over 60s, reduction in ease 
of access may prevent use by some disabled visitors.   

 

The restricted access into the city centre will increase the 
distance between available parking spaces and 
destinations for blue badge holders to park during the 

Access to services & employment; 
Longevity; Health; Standard of living; 
Productive & valued activities 

N N 

P
age 47



 

 
 

footstreet hours, which depending on the severity of the 
individual’s disability may prove to make access into the 
city centre during the footstreet hours more restrictive.   

An increase in physical barriers around the priorty 1 area of 
the city centre (see annex A) will likely have an impact on 
the blind and partially sighted. 

Access to services & employment; 
Health; Standard of living; Individual, 
family and social life. 

N N 

Details of Impact 
Can negative 

impacts be 
justified? 

Reason/Action Lead Officer 
Completion 

Date 

Reduced availability of parking within those 
areas currently accessible to disabled badge 
holders. 

Y 

The need to secure the priority 1 area of 
the city centre (see annex A)  against 
hostile vehicle attack is considered vital 
to protect residents and visitors in York 
city centre during the busiest part of the 
day. 

Alternative parking for Blue Badge 
holders, which is used currently when St. 
Sampson’s Square is closed for events on 
up to 90 days a year, is available close to 
the area.   

Graham 

Titchener 
Aug 2018 

Reduction in accessibility of the St Sampson’s 
centre will negatively impact the residents 
over 60 who are disabled and rely on this 
facility for social interaction, help and 
guidance. 

Y 

The need to secure the priority 1 area of 
the city centre (see annex A)  against 
hostile vehicle attack is considered vital 
to protect residents and visitors in York 
city centre during the busiest part of the 

  

P
age 48



 

 
 

day.  

The city’s Dial & Ride service will 
continue to have access to the St. 
Sampson’s centre to drop off and pick up 
passengers including disabled residents. 

A reduction in access for disabled 
passengers/drivers with loss of parking will 
reduce the accessibility of the priorty 1 area 
in the city centre (see annex A) and access to 
services located there. 

 Y 

The need to secure the priority 1 area of 
the city centre (see annex A)  against 
hostile vehicle attack is considered vital 
to protect residents and visitors in York 
city centre during the busiest part of the 
day. 

Alternative parking for Blue Badge 
holders, which is used currently when St. 
Sampson’s Square is closed for events on 
up to 90 days a year, is available close to 
the area.   

  

Impact on blind and partially sighted due to a 
large number of new obstacles, particularly 
the moving bollards within the 
predominantly pedestrian areas. 

A row of bollards may make way-finding 
simpler for some. 

Y 

The need to secure the priority 1 area of 
the city centre (see annex A) against 
hostile vehicle attack is considered vital 
to protect residents and visitors in York 
city centre during the busiest part of the 
day. 

  

 
 
 

P
age 49



 

 
 

Community of Identity: Gender 

Evidence Quality of Life Indicators 
Customer Impact 

(N/P/None) 
Staff Impact 
(N/P/None) 

N/A N/A None None 

Details of Impact 
Can negative 

impacts be 
justified? 

Reason/Action Lead Officer 
Completion 

Date 

     

 
 
 
 

Community of Identity: Gender Reassignment 

Evidence Quality of Life Indicators 
Customer Impact 

(N/P/None) 
Staff Impact 
(N/P/None) 

N/A 

 

N/A 
None None 

Details of Impact 
Can negative 

impacts be 
justified? 

Reason/Action Lead Officer 
Completion 

Date 

 

 
 

 
  

P
age 50



 

 
 

 
 

Community of Identity: Marriage & Civil Partnership 

Evidence Quality of Life Indicators 
Customer Impact 

(N/P/None) 
Staff Impact 
(N/P/None) 

N/A 

 

N/A 
None None 

Details of Impact 
Can negative 

impacts be 
justified? 

Reason/Action Lead Officer 
Completion 

Date 

 

 
 

 
  

 
 

Community of Identity: Pregnancy / Maternity 

Evidence Quality of Life Indicators 
Customer Impact 

(N/P/None) 
Staff Impact 
(N/P/None) 

N/A 

 

N/A 
None None 

Details of Impact 
Can negative 

impacts be 
justified? 

Reason/Action Lead Officer 
Completion 

Date 

     

P
age 51



 

 
 

 

 
 

Community of Identity: Race 

Evidence Quality of Life Indicators 
Customer Impact 

(N/P/None) 
Staff Impact 
(N/P/None) 

N/A 

 

N/A 
None None 

Details of Impact 
Can negative 

impacts be 
justified? 

Reason/Action Lead Officer 
Completion 

Date 

 

 
 

 
  

Community of Identity: Religion / Spirituality / Belief 

Evidence Quality of Life Indicators 
Customer Impact 

(N/P/None) 
Staff Impact 
(N/P/None) 

Physical closure of streets not currently closed will reduce 
vehicular access to some city centre churches. 

N/A 
None None 

Details of Impact 
Can negative 

impacts be 
justified? 

Reason/Action Lead Officer 
Completion 

Date 

P
age 52



 

 
 

Reduced access to places of worship within 
the priority 1 area of the city centre (see 
annex A) through loss of vehicular access and 
parking for disabled blue badge holders. 

 
Y 

The need to secure the priority 1 area of 
the city centre (see annex A) against 
hostile vehicle attack is considered vital 
to protect residents and visitors in York 
city centre during the busiest part of the 
day. 

Alternative parking for Blue Badge 
holders, which is used currently when St. 
Sampson’s Square is closed for events on 
up to 90 days a year, is available close to 
the area.   

Graham 

Titchener 
Aug 2018 

 
 

Community of Identity: Sexual Orientation 

Evidence Quality of Life Indicators 
Customer Impact 

(N/P/None) 
Staff Impact 
(N/P/None) 

N/A 

 

N/A 
None None 

Details of Impact 
Can negative 

impacts be 
justified? 

Reason/Action Lead Officer 
Completion 

Date 

 

 
 

 
  

 

P
age 53



 

 
 

 
Annex A –  
 

Annex A - City 
centre access Priority One Area -A3.pdf

 

P
age 54



 

 

  
 

   

 
Economy & Place Policy Development 
Committee  
 

18 September 2018 

 
Report of the Head of Economic Growth 

 

SECONDARY SHOPPING AREAS FUND - UPDATE 

Summary 

1. Work to support the economic health of our District retail centres in 
Haxby and Acomb has now begun.  This report updates the Economy 
and Place Policy Development Committee on progress. 

2. Projects in Acomb have been commissioned, with some work already 
completed. 

3. In Haxby, a fledgling traders association has been established and held 
its first meeting last month.  Further detail is awaited on its intended 
activities. 

4. Research on the future needs of both areas with regard to public realm 
and infrastructure has yet to be commissioned. 

 Background 

5. Economy & Place Policy Development Committee have asked for an 
update report on the work to Enhance Economic Growth for Secondary 
Shopping Areas which was approved by the Executive Member for 
Economic Development and Community Engagement on 3rd July 2018. 

6. That decision outlined work to seek the establishment of a Haxby 
traders’ association, fund a range of projects in Acomb, provide a capital 
fund for additional projects for both areas, and commission external 
consultants to report on the impact of trends in retail on District centres 
and recommend actions to improve their resilience.  A total budget of 
£100,000 was available. 

7. In Acomb, there were 5 projects approved: 

Page 55 Agenda Item 5



 

   Improving the street scene on Acomb Front Street through improved 
planters - Acomb Alive (£3,000) 

   Increasing footfall on Acomb Front Street - ADAM festival (£2,500 in 
2018/19, £2,500 in 2019/20) 

  Improving the street scene on Acomb Front Street through 
environmental improvements to the bin store area – Friends of 
Acomb Green (£5,000) 

  Improved wayfinding on Acomb Front Street – Acomb Alive (£2,000) 

  Enhanced Xmas lights on Front Street – Acomb Alive (£5,000) 

8. In Haxby, it was agreed to begin by seeking to establish an independent 
traders’ association.  This body, together with other organisations such 
as the Town Council, would then be able to bid for further funds.  £5,000 
was allocated to support the establishment of the traders association. 

9. £50,000 was allocated for activities to support the longer term economic 
health of district centres.  In the first instance, this will be used to procure 
specialist consultants to report on the potential impacts of long-term 
trends in retail on Haxby and Acomb centre.  This will in turn be used to 
inform work to establish whether more substantial public realm 
investment in both areas might be of value, and what form that 
investment might take.  Any remaining funds will be offered to the two 
centres for further short term measures. 

10. The remaining £23,000 capital funding was unallocated.   This money 
remains available for further bids for short term measures in Haxby or 
Acomb. 
 
Progress on agreed activities  

11. The projects in Acomb have been proceeding over the summer.  Acomb 
Alive have arranged for the watering of their planters on Front Street, 
and Friends of Acomb Green ran their ADAM festival, which included 
elements to encourage the use of Front Street shops. 

12. The Christmas Lights work is just beginning, and initial discussion on the 
improvement of the recycling area at Morissons have taken place. 

13. The Acomb wayfinding project will take place over the autumn. 

Page 56



 

14. In Haxby, the original plan had been to employ consultants to make 
contact with local shopkeepers and seek to convene a meeting to 
establish a traders association.  We were contacted soon after the 
decision session by a local business owner who was keen to establish 
such an organisation. 

15. This person had already contacted 80 businesses in Haxby and 
Wiggington, and had taken advice from Easingwold traders’ association 
on how to get started.  An initial meeting was held in July 2018 which 
was attended by 21 local businesses who agreed to establish Haxby & 
Wiggington Traders Association and elected a committee to take the 
work forward.  Cllr Johnny Hayes presented on his experience of setting 
up Bishy Road Traders and Indie York, offering further advice and 
encouragement if needed. 

16. The committee has now met and is formulating proposals for activity.  
Traders are being asked for a fee of £45 for their first year membership, 
and part of the allocated £5,000 will be used to match membership 
contributions up to a limit of £2,500.  

17. It is hoped that this fledgling traders association will become a strong 
voice for local businesses.  We are keeping its development under 
review at this stage, but are encouraged by the start that has been 
made. 

18. The consultancy work on the impact of retail trends on Haxby and 
Acomb will be commissioned in the next month.  A similar study, 
focusing on the city centre and out-of-town retail is required for a 
separate project, and it is hoped that by commissioning both studies 
together we will reduce duplication and free up more budget to support 
practical work. 
 
Conclusions 

19. Work has begun on the project, although there is little yet to report on.  
The work in Haxby is progressing well, and we hope it will be the start of a 
useful organisation which can help to ensure the economic vibrancy of the 
area. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 57



 

 
Contact Details 
Author: 
Simon Brereton 
Head of Economic Growth 
 

Officer Responsible for the report: 
Simon Brereton 
Head of Economic Growth 
Tel: 01904 552814 

  

Report Approved  Date 10/09/2018 

     
 
 

Wards Affected:  Westfield, Acomb, Haxby & Wiggington   

 
 
For further information please contact the author of the report 
 
Background Papers: 
 
Enhancing Economic Growth for Secondary Shopping Areas: paper to 
Decision Session Executive Member for Economic Development and 
Community Engagement, 3rd July 2018.  
http://democracy.york.gov.uk/documents/s124616/Report.pdf    
 

Page 58

http://democracy.york.gov.uk/documents/s124616/Report.pdf


 

 

  
 

   

 
Economy and Place Policy Development 
Committee 

18 September 2018 

 
Report of the Assistant Director Transport, Highways and Environment 

 

Street Lighting Policy Cover Report 

Summary 

1. This report informs the Economy and Place Policy Development 
Committee of proposed changes to the Street Lighting Policy following 
an officer review. 

2. This issue was referred to Scrutiny by the Executive Member for 
Transport and Planning at a Decision Session in July 2018 with this 
Committee invited to comment on the updated policy prior to it going 
back to the Executive Member for approval. 

3. Also in July 2018 this Committee agreed to add the Street Lighting Policy 
to its work plan to be considered at this meeting.  

 Background 

4. The officer review of the Street Lighting Policy identified a number of 
areas where the policy can be strengthened. A copy of the new 
document is attached at Annex A. 

5. The previous policy did not differentiate between the historic core 
conservation area and other conservation areas.  The redrafted policy 
clarifies that the Council will be flexible with light levels and equipment 
within the historic core.  Outside the historic core the aim is for 
standardised light levels and column heights with new columns on the 
back of the footway.  Within conservation areas embellishment kits will 
be installed if that improves the match with adjacent lights. 

6. The practice of placing columns to the back of the footway has 
highlighted issues where this creates a conflict with street trees.  The 
policy has been changed to reflect that when lamp columns are replaced 
they will be put at the back of the footway, but this will not be done if 

Page 59 Agenda Item 6



 

there is a public or private tree that will place the lamp head in the crown 
of the tree. In these instances the column will be sited at the front of the 
footway. 

7. The review also identified that the Street Lighting Policy and the Councils 
Streetscape Strategy and Guidance are not complimentary.  The 
Streetscape Strategy and Guidance document is a useful guide for 
officers in respecting and maintaining the character and quality of the 
City.  However, it can only be guidance given that it is unbudgeted and in 
some regards cuts cross our legal obligations in respect of procurement.  
For this reason confirmation is sought that it should be treated as 
advisory guidance only for officers.  A review and refresh is proposed of 
the document. 
 
Analysis  

8. The key changes in the updated policy are: 

 To strengthen the policy about sensitive areas in the city and 
differentiate between the historic core and conservation areas; 

 To improve the policy with regards to managing risk between trees 
and lamp columns. 

9. The review highlighted that the Street Lighting Policy and the 
Streetscape Strategy and Guidance do not give consistent advice and 
therefore the Streetscape Strategy and Guidance needs to be confirmed 
as guidance. 
 
Council Plan 

10. This report is linked to the A Council That Listens to Residents priority in 
the Council Plan in that the review was originally initiated by local 
residents to ensure a proportionate and consistent approach to the 
management of street lighting across the city 
 
Implications 

11. There are no Financial, HR, Equalities, Legal, Crime and Disorder, IT, 
Property or other implications arising from the recommendations in this 
report. 
 
 
 

Page 60



 

Risk Management 
 
12. There are no risks associated with the recommendations in this report. 

 
Recommendations 
 

13. The Committee is asked to consider and comment on the proposed 
update of the Street Lighting Policy before it goes back to the Executive 
Member for approval. 
  
Reason: So this Committee plays an active role in policy development 
proposals for the city. 
 

Contact Details 

Author: 
Steve Entwistle 
Scrutiny Officer 
Tel: 01904 554279 
steven.entwistle@york.gov.uk 

Chief Officer Responsible for the report: 
James Gilchrist 
Assistant Director Transport, Highways and 
Environment 

  

Report Approved  Date 7/09/2018 

     
 
Specialist Implications Officer  
Bill Manby 
Head of Highways and Fleet                                                                                                                   
Tel No. 01904 553233                                                       
 

Wards Affected:   All  

 
 
For further information please contact the author of the report 
 
Annexes 
 
Annex A – City of York Council Street Lighting Policy 

Page 61

mailto:steven.entwistle@york.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Annex A 
 

Street Lighting Policy 
Form Ref No: SLP/2 

V2: May 2018 

 

City of York Council Street Lighting Policy 
 
Second Edition 
 
Introduction 
This policy outlines the basic guidance, principles and standards 
applying to the provision of street lighting. The definition of street 
lighting shall encompass all items of Lighting Equipment provided on 
the public highway, Including all street lighting and illuminated signs 
within the City of York Council’s boundaries. The term “street lighting” 
and “Illuminated signs” covers all lights illuminating public areas and 
highways, along with architectural lighting, shelter, subways, tunnels, 
council parking areas and lit signage excluding traffic signals, push 
button crossings, and programmable variable message signs. 
Detailed guidance is given in the appendices included. 
 
Overview and Main Objectives  
The provision of lighting within the authority enables residents, visitors 
and traffic to interact and perform task within the night time 
environment supporting the following 

 Assisting the safety of highway users. 

 The reduction of crime. 

 The reduction of the fear of crime. 

 The promotion and support of sustainable transport (walking, 

cycling, and public transport). 

 The facilitation and support of social inclusion by providing 

improved freedom to use the streets after dark. 

 The support of a vibrant night time economy. 

 The provision of improved access to public leisure and 

educational buildings, supporting life long health and learning. 

 Assisting emergency services with improved identification of 

locations (shortened response times, improved CCTV 

identification). 

 

Page 63



Annex A 
 

Legal Powers and Duties 
There are currently no statutory obligation or requirement for a local 
authority to provide street lighting, instead the following statutes enable 
and empower them to be able to provide public lighting. 

 The Highways Act 1980 empowers a local Highway Authority to 

provide lighting where they are or will be the Highway Authority 

(existing roads or new developments). District and Parish 

Councils have devolved powers as local lighting Authorities 

conferred under The Public Health Act 1985 and The Parish 

Councils Act 1957 (however consent must be given from the 

Highway Authority). 

 With these powers the Highway Authority has a duty of care to 

the users. Any loss or injury to an individual due to the 

inappropriate use of these powers may result in action being 

taken to recover the losses. Action can be taken on several 

grounds including – Negligent exercise of power, Action for 

misfeasance of public office, Breach of common law duty of care 

(if it can be established). 

NOTE: This duty of care does not imply a duty on the Highway 
Authority to keep the public lighting lit. Instead it implies a duty to 
ensure systems and processes are in place to maintain and keep the 
lighting in a safe condition i.e. the detection of dangers electrical or 
structural. 

 The Health and Safety at Work Act 1974, the Management of 

Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1992, and Construction 

(Design and Management) Regulations 2007 set out the 

arrangements and requirement for works to be carried out in a 

safe manner along with establishing the arrangements for 

managing construction works. 

 The New Roads and Street Works Act 1991 enable the duties of 

a Street Authorities to coordinate and regulate works in the 

highway. All underground cables therefore should be recorded in 

accordance with this act along with the requirements of the 

Electrical Safety, Quality and Continuity Regulations 2002. 

 Other Frameworks of Legislation that do not specifically relate to 

highways or public lighting functions (not exhaustive) but deal 

with issues of the services involved and their provision are – 

Equality Act 2010, Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994, 

Page 64



Annex A 
 

Human Rights Act 1998, Freedom of Information Act 2000, and 

the Local Government Act 2000. 

Design Standards and Considerations 
In addition to and including the legal powers and duties to enable the 
City of York to have a high quality and consistent approach to lighting, 
the following standards and approaches are considered when 
providing new or altering existing installations (detailed description and 
guidance is included in the appendices). 
The City of York Council currently offers a full comprehensive service 
covering design, installation, maintenance and inspection of all exterior 
lighting schemes. 

 Consideration towards the primary user of the highway and any 

special requirements for vulnerable users i.e. pedestrians, 

cyclists, heavy traffic. 

 The location and environmental classification / zone of the 

highway. 

 The usage of the highway / area i.e. car park, square, 

architectural. 

 The location of local amenities e.g. schools, public buildings, 

shops. 

 Daytime and night time visual appearance of equipment. 

 Obtrusive Light and pollution. 

 Energy efficiency. 

 Equipment reliability (some lighting types need very little 

maintenance e.g. LED’s) 

 Equipment Locations in relation to obstructions and maintenance. 

 Whole life costs. 

 Strategies relating to whole streetscape i.e. Conservation 

approach “historic core” Appendix 3. 

 Innovations and advanced technologies. 

 Equipment specifications (to match CYC’s approved standards). 

 End of life equipment disposal i.e. recyclability. 

Page 65



Annex A 
 

 Sustainable and efficient procurement i.e. whole cycle carbon 

emissions and costs. 

 Public risk from accident i.e. passively safe columns, pedestrian 

crossings and conflict areas. 

These considerations are to be taken account of whilst designing to 
current applicable standards and guidance. Currently all new highway 
installations are designed to BS5489 2013 Code of Practice for the 
Design of Road Lighting and BS EN 13201 2003 Road Lighting with 
reference to the Institute of Lighting Professionals Technical Reports 
where necessary (detailed application given in Appendices along with 
criteria for whether lighting is required). Any lighting scheme should 
limit light to the public highway and it is not considered the Authorities 
duty to light private access’, egresses, or unadopted areas. 
 
Sensitive Areas 
 
For the purposes of this policy, sensitive areas can be considered as 
the Central Historic Core, Conservation areas along with scheduled 
monuments, listed structures and other notable locations and their 
surrounds.   
 
https://www.york.gov.uk/info/20215/conservation_and_listed_buildings/
1349/conservation_areas 

In designing such schemes the access and maintenance of equipment 
must also be given consideration, in order not to require onerous 
provisions causing unreasonable disruption in such sensitive areas i.e. 
scaffolding to perform routine tasks. 

 
If there is any conflict between the conservation team and street 
lighting colleagues the decision will be made by the Corporate Director 
of Economy and Place in consultation with the Executive Member for 
Transport and Planning. 

Consideration for Lighting within the Historic Core 

City of York Council recognise that part of the character of York is 
achieved by not lighting to the national standard within the Historic 
Core.  

This location needs to achieve the balance between lighting to 
enhance and improve the local environment for amenity value, in terms 
of trade and tourism, such as using white light for colour rendition or 
floodlights for shadowing and other effects. In such cases, a higher 

Page 66

https://www.york.gov.uk/info/20215/conservation_and_listed_buildings/1349/conservation_areas
https://www.york.gov.uk/info/20215/conservation_and_listed_buildings/1349/conservation_areas


Annex A 
 

standard of light would be permitted, providing always that light control 
should be no less effective than the normal standard applicable. 
Equally, there will be unlit areas and areas of parks and woodland, all 
of which will have to be considered in respect of any new lighting 
proposals where the ‘sky-glow’ normally associated with urban lighting 
would be detrimental to the attraction of such areas and should be 
avoided. In these areas provided that the primary function of the 
lighting is achieved then special consideration should be made in 
relation to enhancing and improving the area through the correct 
selection of equipment and its location.  

In these situations consultation with conservation officers and groups 
must be undertaken in the development of proposals.  

Any selection of replacement lighting structures carried out within the 
Historic Core (conservation area) would also require consideration 
from the conservation team prior to any construction.  

When developing proposals for the historic core consideration must be 
given to the following items: 

 The activity and purpose of the area being developed – Shops, 

Public Buildings, Squares, conflict areas (crossings, shared use 

spaces). 

 Listed Structures and Scheduled Monuments in the vicinity 

including sites of historical reference. 

 The height and bearing on of nearby and adjacent buildings. 

 Specific features and furniture e.g. trees, benches, fountains, 

crossing points. 

 Existing lighting systems including ambient levels created by 

properties. 

 The levels and surfacing of the ground. Consideration needs to 

be made for the less able and visually impaired, including the 

highlighting of hazards. 

Consideration must also be given to local knowledge with regards to 
vandalism, black spots, and anti social behaviour. When lighting 
architectural features systems must limit any light pollution and 
spillage. 

 

Page 67



Annex A 
 

Lighting equipment should complement and enhance an area whilst 
not visually being too over bearing and detracting from local features. 
Existing equipment with historic merit or forming part of a listed 
structure should be retained and restored by a competent accredited 
specialist. Where there are opportunities to improve the reliability of the 
unit it is not necessary to retain the original internal components. Use 
can be made of modern technologies. 

Consideration for Lighting within other Sensitive Areas 

Areas which are outside the historic core but are still are deemed as 
sensitive areas (conservation areas outside the Historic Core) the aim 
is to achieve the BS Standard for lighting levels BS5489-1 :2013.  In 
order to achieve this the column height of new columns is standardised 
as 6metres.  To mitigate this impact the need for effective light control 
to prevent light pollution is even more important, which will determine 
the types of lighting equipment used. 

Columns in sensitive areas outside the Historic Core will not 
automatically require period or replica fittings. Instead greater 
consideration should be given to ensure there is a uniformity of styles 
and effect in each proposed scheme. A Street with various streetlight 
structures and variations of lighting styles will detract more from the 
aesthetics of a street and area. 

Where a single light column is to be replaced in a street, that is within a 
conservation area, it will be selected to be the closest match to the 
majority of column in that street, for long streets 10 columns either side 
of new location will be considered. 

In general, new equipment along with the refurbishment of specialist 
items i.e. ones that form part of a listed structure should be of an LED 
source. Architectural systems should be programmable and consider 
colour variance as an option. Any use of other light sources must first 
be agreed with the Street Lighting Department. 

Location of Equipment in Sensitive Areas 

In the City of York the vast majority of streets in sensitive areas are 
narrow with restricted use to both vehicles and pedestrians. In these 
situations the preferred option of mounting lights is on buildings. Prior 
to any works agreements must be gained in the order of Way leaves, 
Listed Building Consents and other legal obligations. The actual sitting 
and style of brackets and light should take into account the style, 
location and elevation of the property.  

Where building mounting of lights is not possible the lights should be 
located to be as least visually obtrusive as possible. The columns 

Page 68



Annex A 
 

should be placed at the rear of footways and avoid detracting from any 
adjacent property or land mark. 

Materials of Equipment in Sensitive Areas 

Due to the difficulty and access restrictions in sensitive areas great 
consideration is needed for those materials in use. All columns ornate 
or not are required to be manufactured from a single material and have 
an expected design life of 50 years. Where dissimilar materials are 
used special systems are required to avoid oxidation. Ornate columns 
should be modular in that the embellishments should be an attached to 
a standard column. (Columns made as a single cast unit are no longer 
used by the City of York due to their prohibitive handling requirements, 
high maintenance and high replacement costs). 

General Lighting Requirements 

All lighting schemes within the City of York boundaries shall be 
provided, designed, installed and maintained in accordance with this 
policy, its appendices and supporting documents. A failure to adhere to 
this may result in non-compliance a refusal to adopt the systems 
and/or creating risk and further costs to the proposer of the scheme. 
The following general guidance along with specifics highlighted in the 
appendices sets the basis of all York installations. 

Obtrusive Light 

In accordance with guidance given by the Institute of Street Lighting 
Professionals (https://www.theilp.org.uk/documents/obtrusive-light/ ) 

Obtrusive light is described as light which falls outside a required area. 
Because of its level/quantity, direction and colour it can cause 
annoyance, distraction and discomfort reducing the ability to see 
correctly (not to mention wastes energy). More commonly known as 
light pollution it is divided into three specific areas –  

Sky Glow- This is the artificial brightening of the night sky caused by 
water and dust particles in the atmosphere reflecting artificial light. This 
is most commonly seen as the orange glow over urban areas caused 
by badly controlled or designed lights shining directly upwards. 

Glare- Is an intense and blinding light which causes discomfort. It is 
often seen against a dark background and often affects the vision of 
road users creating a hazard. This is mainly caused by poorly designed 
and maintained lighting. 

Light trespass- Is light generally shining where it is neither needed nor 
wanted, often spilling from properties where the light is located. Poorly 
controlled exterior lighting shines into neighbouring properties and 

Page 69

https://www.theilp.org.uk/documents/obtrusive-light/


Annex A 
 

reduces privacy, can affect sleep patterns and detracts from the 
appearance of an area. 

When restricting obtrusive light great consideration should be given to 
the control of the light source with less that 1% of direct light above the 
horizontal for street light and the use of filters or shutters to control and 
restrict architectural lighting firmly to the feature being lit.  

In addition to these requirements areas of special consideration are –  

 Airports and Aerodromes 

 Railways 

 Harbours 

 Transport Interchanges 

 Navigable Waterways 

 Adjacent Unlit Traffic Routes 

 Car Parks (both public and privately owned). 

In these instances consultation should be given to the relevant 
authorities to take account of any further special measures needed. 

Shielding of Lights 

The vast majority of new and modern lights have fully controlled optics 
in order to restrict light onto the highways or items that are required to 
be lit. However it is accepted that on occasion intrusion can still occur. 
Where this has been at the direct result of the council’s maintenance or 
improvement works where possible the light will be shielded by 
masking off the rear of the lantern (LED lanterns will not be shielded as 
they have a sharp restriction of light output). However if the cause is 
because the issue is outside this i.e. change of occupancy, or room 
use then the authority has no obligation to shield. In instances where 
shielding the light will detrimentally affect its output or intended 
operation then shielding will not be able to be provided on safety 
grounds e.g. the light is on the opposite side of a road or a 
considerable distance away from the property. In all occurrences of 
existing and historical street lights the first responsibility is upon the 
home or property owner to ensure adequate use of curtains or blinds is 
made. The council bears no responsibility from a failure on the part of 
householders to take adequate steps. 

Page 70



Annex A 
 

Individual shielding requests are decided on by the Street Lighting 
Department and based on the balance of needs of each location. 

Flooding 

City of York has areas of public highway and paths where flooding is 
common in winter months. In these locations where possible the units 
should take account of the possibility of being wholly or partially 
underwater for several days at a time. As such it is suggested isolation 
points and supply connections should be located outside the flood 
plains i.e. connection boxes and isolators at the top of columns or high 
up on walls, and Pillars out of the plains themselves. No special 
requirements are actually needed for the lighting levels themselves 
beyond standard and special area installations. Advice and 
requirements are given by contacting both the Street Lighting 
Department and the Flood Risk Manager at the council. 

Lighting of Pedestrian Crossings 

Pedestrian Crossings are to be lit to conform to the current British 
Standards (and advisement from EN13201-2:2003) and comply with 
the advice of The Institute of Lighting Professionals, Technical Report 
12 “Lighting of Pedestrian Crossings”. Where required; additional 
lighting units are to be firmly controlled onto the crossing area itself 
creating a positive contrast of the lighting. Any beacons should be 
shielded from local properties as to avoid nuisance caused by 
“flashing” effects.  The lights sources should be LED’s and part of the 
approved list shown in the appendices. It is assumed that all new 
crossing will require additional lighting through specific “controlled” 
units. 

Traffic Calming Areas 

The lighting of traffic calming areas and feature should take account of 
the requirement within the Highway (Road Hump) Regulations 1996 
section 5.  Lighting levels should consider and include any physical 
calming measures in the highway and comply with current British 
Standards and best current advice from the ILP. 

Subways and Underpasses 

Subways and underpasses provide a safe route for pedestrians and 
cyclists to navigate across busy and dangerous junctions as such they 
are required to be kept in a safe and passable condition at all times.  

Due to the nature of them underpasses need to be lit within the 
requirements of the British Standards, and should be bright and well lit 
to encourage their usage day or night.   

Page 71



Annex A 
 

Consideration should be given to varying the levels of lighting between 
day and night. This is because a higher level of light is generally 
required in daylight hours to avoid them appearing dark and special 
note should be given at entrances and exits to avoid a sudden 
transition between varying levels of lighting i.e. dark and light. This 
should make them more attractive to the users and reduce anxiety and 
the fear of crime in such areas. 

Light Sources 

Within The City of York over a number of years a vast number of light 
sources have been in use for various schemes, and are still maintained 
to this day in existing equipment. The following types are the most 
common in the city and their attributes are included too- 

 Low Pressure Sodium – a monochromatic orange coloured light 

source that gives a good efficacy (light output in lumens per watt) 

but has very poor colour rendering (measured in Ra as 0) making 

even orange coloured items appear different. It also has poor 

glare characteristics and is very hard to control with the majority 

of light going straight up or backwards. It has a low life 

expectancy for the lamp (bulb). 

 High Pressure Sodium – a peach coloured light of medium 

efficacy and a reasonable colour rendering (Ra of 25). It has 

been popular from the 1980’s until recently as it gave good all 

round performance with a choice of good optical control. The life 

expectancy of this is good with five years between lamp changes 

now being experienced. 

 Fluorescent – a white coloured source with high colour rendering 

(above Ra 60) but good efficacy and a low lamp life (as 

experienced by CYC). It is more commonly used for signage and 

bollards and has been used to replace soon to be outlawed 

mercury fittings in the city.  

 Metal Halide (including Cosmo) – a white light source of high 

colour rendering and efficacy with a good lamp life. Similarly to 

high pressure sodium it has been popular in areas where good 

lighting and colour recognition is needed i.e. CCTV and central 

areas. 

 LED’s- Led’s currently offer the best rendering with extreme life 

and good efficacy. Being a more directional point type of lighting 

Page 72



Annex A 
 

source they offer good control too. This is the choice for the 

majority of new and improvement schemes in the city. 

Selection of Light Sources and Luminaires 

For the purpose of street lighting the selection of a source and 
luminaire will be dependant on application, existing equipment and 
percentage of lights being replaced, and other special requirements. 
On all new schemes the light source of choice is LED’s with approved 
models (new installations list), LED specification and adoption 
requirements (including commuted sums) to be found in the 
appendices. Should LED’s be deemed not capable within the scheme 
then specific agreements must be reached with the street lighting team 
and or planning officers in the authority. 

Replacement of existing lights should take into account the number 
and percentage ratio of new lights. Along with the existing type and 
sources leading the requirements, the usage of the area must also be 
evaluated to determine if there is any significant change. For example 
if a road was formerly a high traffic route and is now a closed 
pedestrian area with the majority of lights needing replacement then it 
would be better to fully re-design the street. This would give a better 
level of lighting more applicable for the areas usage. Where as a road 
of 20 lights with only a few needing replacement would only require the 
nearest light fitting (in source and style) to the original fitting. Guidance 
on approved replacement (maintenance) fittings and new fittings can 
be found in the appendices. Overall decision on models and types will 
be indicated by the street lighting team. 

Columns and Passive Safety 

Typically the lighting columns in the authority use range between 6m 
and 12m in height and depending on location of installation can be of a 
hinged nature to allow access to the lantern. All columns in the city are 
to comply with the current standards set in BS EN40-2 2004 Lighting 
Columns General requirements and Dimensions. This standard maps 
the country with respects to wind loadings and terrains that street lights 
would need to be able to safely resist both in maximum expectation 
and fatigue. York currently specifies tubular steel columns of a medium 
rating under the regulations and requires them to be pre coated in 
gloss black with an anticipated column life of 30 years, and coating life 
of 25 years. Should signs or other equipment need to be mounted to 
the column then they are limited typically to an area of 0.3m2 and 
maximum weight of 5 kg. Any items outside these parameters require 
the columns to be specifically designed to accept greater loadings. The 
normal method of installation with lighting columns is to bury the root in 
the ground supported with concrete. However where the ground is soft 

Page 73



Annex A 
 

and unsound or the depths needed can’t be met i.e. on bridges then 
specifically designed methods of installation will be needed. In all 
cases the method and materials used will be recorded onto the 
council’s asset system. 

Where traffic speeds are less than 50 miles per hour or there are a 
large number of obstructions near or immediately behind lighting 
columns i.e. buildings, trees, walls etc. Then there is little or no safety 
advantage to be gained by using a passively safe column. In fact there 
may be a considerable increase in risk to pedestrians and other road 
users. 

Instead passively safe lighting columns should be used on higher 
speed roads where risk of death or serious injury from striking a street 
light is greatly increased. In these situations guidance should be 
sought from the County Surveyors Society PPR342 “The Use of 
Passively Safe Sign Posts and Lighting Columns”. It is anticipated that 
“No Energy” columns would be the preferred type of column used 
manufactured from aluminium. Whilst initial costs may be higher for 
materials than conventional columns it is anticipated that over the 
whole life of the installation the cost will be less. This is due to the 
lower degradation of the materials used (aluminium has and expected 
50 year life) and lower replacement needs (columns are socketed into 
the ground rather than concrete, and have quick disconnect systems 
reducing the need for electricity board attendance). 

Equipment Locations Within the Highway 

Lighting equipment and signs as a rule where possible should not 
obstruct footways. In order to ensure the best possible effect of the 
lighting and least visual obtrusion columns should be located to the 
rear of footways and to the recommended minimums set out in the 
current standards (BS5489-1 2013). If little room is available then 
consideration should be given to mounting items on neighbouring 
structures. Consideration should also be given to underground service 
locations, vehicular access, windows, doors, trees, and highway users 
(disabled, large vehicles, etc.) The final decisions on locations of 
equipment shall be determined by the street lighting department on a 
combination of all needs. 

Switching and Variable Levels of Lighting 

Within the City of York the majority of lights are controlled on and off 
via a photo-electric cell (PECU). All new and existing PECU’s switch at 
a ratio (LUX) of 35:18 (dusk and dawn). Other equipment is controlled 
by a time clock, or a remote monitoring system. 

Page 74



Annex A 
 

Actual levels of light are dictated by the current standards and 
requirements set out in the appendices, but all new equipment should 
be compatible with CYC’s existing systems and be able to vary their 
output to ensure that the relevant levels of light required are given at 
the relevant times.  

This ensures that the best use of light and energy is given in all new 
lighting systems for the city reducing waste. 

Maintenance of Lighting Equipment 

Statutory Requirements 

Currently there is no legal obligation to provide lighting or ensure that it 
is lit. However the authority is obliged to ensure that any lighting 
equipment is maintained in a safe condition. As previously mentioned 
this is governed by legislation such as The Electricity at Work 
Regulations 1989 and more specifically BS 7671 Requirements For 
Electrical Installations. These give guidance to safe electrical systems 
and their protection. 

With structural maintenance again there is no statutory requirement 
other than ensuring an installation is safe. Instead guidance is given by 
Technical Report 22 of the ILP. 

Records and Inventories of Equipment 

The Authority currently maintains and electronic record of all lighting 
equipment (including signs and bollards). This recorded inventory 
includes any details required to formulate maintenance strategies and 
energy submissions ranging from individual lamp types, wattages and 
geographical details. This is all recorded in line with the 
recommendations of the ILP’s Technical Report 22 “Managing a Vital 
Asset.” 

Detection of Faults 

All faults are received via public reporting either through the council’s 
contact centre or via online methods. Where specific problem areas or 
locations are being experienced or highlighted then the council will 
undertake an inspection for repair. Typically the council does not 
actively night scout. (a night scout is typically a visual inspection via an 
operative in a vehicle in the hours of darkness to identify if something 
is lit or not). 

When faults are highlighted the authority works to the following SLA 
targets:- 

 

Page 75



Annex A 
 

 

Category Description  Response 

1 Emergency call-out.  Faults 
causing immediate danger 
to the public e.g. knock 
downs or exposed 
electrical components  

Make safe within 2 hours and 
repair within 4 working days 
(not necessarily lit, but 
electrically and structurally 
safe)1 

 

2 High risk faults but with no 
immediate risk to the public 
e.g. damaged bollards 

Make safe as soon as 
possible but within 24 hours 
(maximum).  Repair within 4  
working days.1 

3 Outages Shall be repaired as soon as 
possible but within a 
maximum period of 4 working 
days1 

4 ‘Private cable’ cable faults Shall be repaired as soon as 
possible but within a 
maximum period of 10 
working days.1 

Faults found to be outside the council’s control i.e. mains cable faults 
are reported to the Distribution Network Operator (DNO) within 24 
hours of receipt and are subject to their timescales found here: 
http://www.northernpowergrid.com/page/unmetered_standards.cfm  

(Their usual standards are 20 working days for faults and 35 working 
days for new connections from receipt of the order or notification). 

“The Street Lighting Team aims to work within these targets they 
cannot guarantee on every occasion this will be possible. Where a fault 
results in the need for a new piece of equipment (involving the DNO), a 
specialist part, or a re-design of a whole section then the team will 
ensure that the equipment is safe and endeavour to rectify at the 
earliest opportunity”. 

Electrical Inspections 

In accordance with the requirements of BS7671 all electrical equipment 
is tested every 6 years. The resulting evidence is stored until a new 
test or alteration is undertaken. 

Risk Assessments of Street Lighting Supports(structural Testing) 

All Street Lighting columns have been inspected in line with the 
requirements of the ILP’s Technical Report 22 Managing a Vital Asset: 
Lighting Supports. As such each individual column is scored based on 

Page 76

http://www.northernpowergrid.com/page/unmetered_standards.cfm


Annex A 
 

condition and given a re-test date based on risk of failure. Methods of 
testing used currently are visual for concrete columns and ultrasonic/ 
din search testing for steel columns (for cracking and section loss) 
undertaken by a qualified and registered lighting column tester. 

“Whilst risks are managed we cannot be wholly certain of the condition 
of a lighting column at all times as such any concerns observed should 
be brought to the attention of the street lighting department”. 

Trees, Bushes, and Greenery 

In relation to the access maintenance and safety of street lighting 
equipment careful consideration should be given to the location and 
type of existing greenery and any proposed planting of new items. In 
new schemes where possible equipment should be located away from 
the canopy and root systems of mature trees, this will avoid any 
obstruction of the light and possible damage from branches. Similarly 
new trees should not be planted in service margins or the direct vicinity 
of lighting equipment. The planting of shrubs and other greenery 
should also be such as to ensure safe access to doors and 
mechanisms on columns and cabinets alike. 

When replacing columns the principle is that we will locate them to the 
back of the footway.  However, if this places the lamp head within the 
crown of a public or private tree we will keep that column to the front of 
the footway. 

Where an item of greenery on private property encroaches onto the 
public highway as such to obscure or damage street lighting equipment 
then it will be considered a “Highway Obstruction” and be required to 
be cut back or removed. Failure to comply may result in the council 
undertaking the works and recharging the costs to the property owner. 

Existing trees and bushes obscuring or damaging equipment may 
where possible be cut back by suitably qualified persons.  

Should any lighting equipment be observed as damaged or obscured 
by greenery then it should be reported to the street lighting department. 

Adoption of Lighting Schemes 

In areas required to be lit the City’s street lighting policy shall form part 
of the section 38/ 278 agreement and shall be adhered to. Deviation 
from this policy may result in non compliance and therefore the 
scheme may not be adopted by the authority. All installations and 
schemes (section 38/278, and other “adoptable” systems) are required 
to be inspected by CYC Street Lighting. Any costs incurred will be re-
cooperated by the Authority.   

Page 77



Annex A 
 

Standards of Lighting 

For all developments the standard of lighting shall be in accordance 
with the levels set out in the appendices. Typically they shall be as 
prescribed by the levels of BS5489-1:2013 (see appendices for further 
guidance.) 

Undertaking or Commencement of Works 

New works or alterations on existing highways shall not commence 
without prior notification to the street lighting team. The developer shall 
notify the authority of the works proposed and the equipment effected. 
Whilst the works are in progress the developer shall hold full 
responsibility for the maintenance of all street lighting equipment within 
the site boundaries for the full duration. The developer shall also 
ensure that existing/ safe levels of lighting remain during the course of 
the project, or until new equipment is operational. Records should be 
kept and provided to the authority of these works. 

For works and designs undertaken by the street lighting department it 
shall be considered that they are fully compliant and therefore 
adoptable without further inspection. All Maintenance and Faults’ 
liabilities shall be met by CYC on installations undertaken by the street 
lighting team; however any accidental or 3rd party damages costs will 
still have to be met by the developer/ promoter of the scheme. 

All works and developments undertaken outside the street lighting 
section (section 38 and 278 works) prior to inspection or handover 
must undergo any required routine cyclical maintenance i.e. lamp 
changes after three years, electrical testing to BS7671 after six years 
(a service CYC offer). The results then will be provided to the street 
lighting section along with as constructed drawings showing equipment 
locations, equipment specification (including control gear 
makes/types), cable plans, specific DNO/ IDNO agreements and if 
required lighting level readings. Also an inventory of equipment used in 
relation to their location must be provided. Upon receipt of these the 
installation will be inspected by CYC Street lighting (costs to be met by 
developer/promoter) and any resultant faults or alterations rectified 
prior to approval. All faults and repairs are the responsibility of the 
developer until adoption of the lighting system has been approved. 
Should no plans or inventory of equipment be provided prior to 
inspection then surveys can be undertaken by the authority at the cost 
of the developer. 

Consultation with the authority and other parties 

All Highway and development proposals involving external lighting are 
required to be submitted to the authority for approval. This is required 

Page 78



Annex A 
 

for both areas to be adopted or unadoptable private areas. The 
reasoning being adoptable areas need to conform to the council’s 
specification and unadoptable areas are required to control lighting as 
not to be a statutory nuisance through light trespass or spillage. In 
schemes adjacent or within conservation areas further consultation 
should be given within the general guidance of “special areas” found 
earlier in this document. 

Commuted Sums Payable 

Lighting schemes shall comply with this document and its appendices. 
 
As Such CYC requires all new developments and “adoptable” 
installations provide commuted sums in order to re-cooperate 
“reasonable” maintenance costs.  

The formulae and actual sums structures are to be set out within the 
overall Highways Commuted Sums for Developments Policy, which is 
set to be published in the near future. Until then guidance should be 
sought from the Lighting Department and adoptions officers. 

Alternatively to payment of a commuted sum on agreement with the 
authority the developer may wish to offset the carbon usage at a 50% 
reduction to the commuted sum by providing a “carbon offset” scheme 
to the council. To qualify the scheme must be designed, managed and 
installed by CYC to current “low energy” requirements, with the funds 
forming part of the Authorities carbon management programme. 

Network Connections 

It is anticipated that the vast majority of new equipment will be fed 
directly from the DNO/IDNO’s mains cables. Where a private cable 
network is to be used the design first must be approved and on 
completion full as constructed drawings provided with calculations and 
on site testing readings. The majority of mains connection should be 
provided by the DNO/IDNO, however where the works are considered 
contestable then a third party Independent Connections Provider (ICP) 
may be used. The ICP must be accredited and audited by the 
DNO/IDNO as per the current regulations. Failure to do this will result 
in the development not being adopted. 

Private cable networks should only be used as a last resort and prior 
agreement to their use and design must be given prior to installation by 
the street lighting section. 

 

 

Page 79



Annex A 
 

Unmetered Supplies of Energy and Carbon Emissions 

Subject to procurement regulation the authority currently purchases it 
energy via The Yorkshire Purchasing Organisation (YPO). YPO works 
on behalf of a number of public bodies and combines their electrical 
requirements in order to get better prices. Currently the energy 
provided is described as good quality CHP with a lower carbon impact. 

Unmetered energy supplies are calculated based on an accurate 
inventory (kept by the authority) that is submitted and agreed with the 
DNO. 

In addition to this the number of hours that the lights are deemed to be 
lit is measured by either a nationally recognised number or measured 
by an array of photo voltaic cells. The array is populated with cell’s that 
are typical of use by the authority and the measured on and off times 
are sent via a data stream to the electricity companies. This 
measurement is then used to calculate the amount of energy used. 

The City of York Council is committed to reducing carbon emissions 
across the authority as a whole and as such has targeted street lighting 
to cut emissions by 25% by 2015. 

This is being and has been done by a number of strategies and 
schemes as follows:- 

 Trimming of cells- Photocell traditionally had turn on and off 

levels of (lux) 70:35. This was taken typically to allow equipment 

to start and “warm up” prior to sunset. Modern electronic 

equipment takes far less time to “warm up” and in some cases 

full efficiency is instant. Because of this the authority changed the 

vast majority of its PECU’s to a 35:18 (lux) regime cutting the 

hours lit and energy used. 

 Use of innovative technologies and electronics – Within the last 

five years the pace of development and innovation in lighting 

technologies has accelerated allowing the authority to consider 

novel approaches to lighting the public highway. Electronic 

control gear and LED’s have lead the way enabling the authority 

to better light the highway with less energy in a more applicable 

way. 

 Variance of lighting levels – Until recently when lighting a 

highway the levels of light set under British standards took 

account of peak usage or needs of that particular area, with the 

Page 80



Annex A 
 

measured level being at the time of routine maintenance i.e. 

lowest amount of light output from a lamp. As such this means for 

the majority of the time it is lit, a lighting scheme is at a far higher 

level than needed. Changes in design standards and technology 

mean that the authority are now able to light a highway to the 

applicable standards required at the applicable time in a cost 

effective manner. This allows the authority to reduce wastage in 

an effective manner. 

 De-Illumination of signs and bollards – The Traffic Signs 

Regulations and General Directions 2002 (TSRGD) and 

subsequent amendments sets out the requirements for signs and 

bollards to be lit in the public highway. Following a number of 

studies into safety and visibility the requirements have been 

relaxed and as such a large amount of equipment no longer 

requires lighting. In these cases the council aims to remove and 

de-illuminate redundant equipment. This not only reduces the 

energy usage, but reduces safety liabilities from electrical 

equipment. 

 Renewable energy equipment – currently where a bollard (keep 

left/right, no-entry) is required to be lit the authority replaces it 

with a solar powered unit. This cuts the energy requirements to 

zero and reduces safety implications from mains electric. We are 

also currently evaluation solar sign lights as well as trialling solar 

bus stop and footpath lighting to evaluate its effectiveness. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 81



Annex A 
 

Appendix 1 

Environmental Zones within City of York Boundaries 

For the purposes of the design of all new lighting installations and 
control of light pollution within the authority, York will fall into the 
Environmental Zones E2, E3, E4 as set out within The ILP’s Guidance 
Notes on the Reduction of Obtrusive Light.  

Typically the areas can be described as follows:- 

E4- Areas of High District Brightness 

These are areas of high night time activity normally described as town 
centres. In York this should be considered as areas similar to Coney 
Street, Parliament Street, and Micklegate where there are high levels 
of shopping, through footfall and evening entertainment. 

E3 – Areas of Medium District Brightness 

Small centres and suburban locations best fit this criteria, It is 
anticipated that the vast majority of the city will fall into this category 
with large conurbations such as Acomb, Clifton, and Woodthorpe being 
good examples.  

E4 – Areas of Low District Brightness 

Small Villages and rural areas fall into this category. By their very 
nature the lighting in these places will be minimal and tightly restricted. 

Any areas outside the above parameters would be considered as 
below the requirements for lighting. Although given as a guide the 
above zones may not blanket cover wide areas. For example within the 
historic core there is a large mixture of well lit open areas surrounded 
by darker pathways and ginnels. As such careful consideration must be 
given to the control of light in these adjacent areas along with upward 
light spill. In these instances guidance should be sought from the 
Street Lighting Department. 

The following parameters give the obtrusive light limitations for these 
zones. 

 

 

 

 

Page 82



Annex A 
 

Environ
mental 
Zone 

Sky Glow 
ULR (max 
%) 

Light Intrusion 
(into Windows Ev 

(lux) 

Luminous 
Intensity I 
(candelas) 

Building 
Luminance Pre-
curfew 

Pre-
curfew 

Post-
curfew 

Pre-
curfe
w 

Post-
curfew 

Average, L 
(cd/m2) 

E2 2.5 5 1 7,500 500 5 

E3 5.0 10 2 10,00
0 

1,000 10 

E4 15.0 25 5 25,00
0 

2,500 25 

(further information and guidance can be found in “Guidance Notes for 
the Reduction of Obtrusive Light GN01” from the ILP). 

Typical Lighting Class Selection in York 

Generally new schemes should follow the guidance given within 
BS5489-1 :2013. All Schemes should take advantage of the ability to 
vary levels and classifications to reflect the requirements at any 
particular time.  

For consideration in residential areas the typical height for columns 
should be taken as 6m and the light source LED. As such 
classifications should be taken from tables A.5 or A.6 of the standard 
utilising “P” classifications. Typically the majority of suburban 
residential streets will be P4 dropping to P5 between midnight and 6 
AM. 

Traffic routes should be lit by the luminance method and governed by 
the levels set out in BS5489- 1 :2013 tables A.2 and A.3 with the vast 
majority of areas falling within table A.3. It is anticipated that at peak 
times most major traffic routes will exceed 65% capacity in the city and 
fall within the M3 classification. On traffic routes it is advisable to 
consider the use of variable lighting levels however in some very 
central areas this may not be possible e.g. sections of Bootham, 
Gillygate, Blossom Street. Advice should be sought from the lighting 
team for suggested levels required. 

Conflict Areas likewise are to be dictated by table A.4 of BS5489 with 
particular emphasis on exceeding the 0.4 U  minimum. 

 

 

Page 83



Annex A 
 

Other Areas 

Other specific areas to be lit within the public realm should follow the 
guidance given within BS5489, however particular emphasis should be 
made to improve on uniformity levels set. For example in public car 
parks the average luminance would be expected of 20 lux and a 
minimum uniformity should exceed 0.25. The authority would consider 
the requirements to be able to recognise objects both in and out of 
vehicles along with reducing crime and the fear of crime for the Uo 
levels to exceed 0.4. 

Appendix 2 
Standard Maintenance Range of Associated Street Lighting 
Equipment 
 

Item  Model 

Column &Paint 
system 

 Galvanised steel or aluminium to EN40 
medium grade with Permoglaze PPA 571 
Gloss Colour Black  RAL 9005 (30 Year 
Life) and a minimum G2 root coat spec. 

Illuminated Traffic 
Bollards 

 Solarbol 

Illuminated Traffic  Delta(LED) or LUA LED 

Signs  Retro fit LED lamp. 

   

Zebra Crossing 
Beacon 

 3 white/black bands with, yellow globe with 
Led flash, post 3.1m height above ground 
level with planted foundation. 

Centre Island 
Beacon 

 2 white/black bands, opal LED globe, post  
Hinged 4.7m length, 3.8m height above 
ground level with planted foundation. 

Feeder Pillars  Pillar with Tri-head Screw 

Photo Cell  SS3 35/18 one part PECU mounted in 
Nema socket 

Cut Outs  DPI with BS 88 Fuse(s).  Cut out to be 
rated up to 32A 

Underground Cable  XLPE / SWA / PVC 3 Core Copper Cable 

 
Standard Range of Design and New Scheme Lanterns 
 

Further to the above- 
 
All columns are to be secondary Isolated with the 32 A isolator rated at 
IP33 with a 4 A BS88 MD fuse. Lanterns are to be pre-wired 1.5mm 
t&e cable or flex to BS 6004 to the DPI. Between the DNO cut out and 
the DPI the cable is to be 2.5mm single and an earthing block supplied 

Page 84



Annex A 
 

separate with a “safety electrical connection” tag. Earth bonding is to 
be 6mm green and yellow. 
 
On section 38/ 278 developments/schemes where underground DNO 
cables are required to be installed in ducting to the required locations 
the ducting must be black as per DNO specification. 
   If any street lighting is to be cabled privately due to any constraints of 
locations, the cables must be SWA XLPE and  in Orange ducting as 
per street lighting requirements. This scenario should only be 
undertaken when DNO services cannot be achieved and must be 
authorised by City of York council street lighting department. 
 
The above lists are not exhaustive and alternatives that meet or 
exceed the current standard of equipment may be used upon 
agreement with the street lighting team. Discussions should be sought 
prior to design and installation with agreements on materials potentially 
negating part of the requirements for commuted sums. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 85



Annex A 
 

 
Appendix 3 
York Central Historic Core/ Conservation Area 
 

 
Street Listing 
Bootham Park Hospital Minster Precinct 

Bootham The Medieval Streets 

Marygate Central Shopping Area 

Museum Gardens & Exhibition Square King's Staith & Coppergate Centre 

Gillygate Castle 

Lord Mayor’s Walk 
Aldwark 

Piccadilly 
Fossgate & Walmgate 

Monkgate Outer Walmgate 

Bishophill 
Micklegate 
Railway Area 
The Mount 

Walmgate Bar 
Fishergate 
Queen’s Staith & Skeldergate 
Blossom Street & Nunnery Lane 

 

Page 86



Economy & Place Policy Development Committee - Workplan 2018-19 

19 June 2018 1. Attendance of Exec Mbr for Economic Dev & Comm Engagement - Priorities & Challenges for 
2018/19 

2.  Creative Strategy for York - with attendance of Head of Science City York  
3.  Residents Parking Scrutiny Topic Feasibility Report  
4.  Workplan 2018/19 
5. Urgent Business – Draft Service Specification for Make it York Contract 2018-21 

17 July 2018 1. Attendance of Exec Mbr for Environment - Priorities & Challenges for 2018/19 
2. Attendance of Exec Mbr for Transport & Planning, 
3. Presentation on Economic Strategy Progress inc. Strategy Review Plan & Update on Local 

Industrial Strategy (Simon Brereton) – deferred from June 2018 meeting  
4. Workplan 2018/19 

18 Sept 2018 1. Introduction to City Centre Access Works & Initial Consultation on City Centre Disabled Parking 
2. Overview of Planned Work to Enhance Economic Growth in Secondary Shopping Areas 
3. Update Report on Street Lighting Policy 
4. Workplan 2018/19 

5.  

Nov 2018 Business Week – Conference on the Future of York’s Economy 
 

20 Nov 2018 1. Residents Parking Review Scoping Report  
2. Update on Enhancing Economic Growth in Secondary Shopping Areas  
3. Update on Development of a Community Asset Strategy for York ( (moved from Sept agenda)  
4. Workplan 2018/19  

 

22 Jan 2019 1.  Workplan 2018/19 
 

 

P
age 87

A
genda Item

 7



5 March 2019 

 

1. Workplan 2018/19 

 

Future Areas of Policy Development 
 
• Economic Strategy 2020–2025 -  Building in Economic Metrics & Performance Assessment 
• Community Infrastructure Levy 
• Supplementary Planning Guidance – Priorities for York 
• Policy on Crossing Points 
 

P
age 88


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	4 Review of Disabled Access into the City Centre
	Appendix 1 - Executive Report 27 September 2018
	Annex A - City centre access Priority One Area -A3
	Sheets and Views
	Priority one NTS


	Annex B - information report on prioritised areas
	Annex C - York Counter Terrorism Task Group endorsement page 1
	Annex C - York Counter Terrorism Task Group endorsement page 2
	Annex D OASIS comms plan - City Centre Access
	Annex E - Letter from Supt Robson
	Annex F - Community Impact Assessment  - city centre priority 1 area

	5 Secondary Shopping Areas Fund - Update
	6 Street Lighting Policy
	Annex A Street lighting Policy

	7 Work Plan 2018/19



